From the Department of Clinical Science, Intervention and Technology, Division of Pediatrics Karolinska Institutet, Stockholm, Sweden

MOBILE HEALTH INTERVENTIONS AND CARDIORESPIRATORY FITNESS IN PEDIATRIC OBESITY

Linnea Johansson



Stockholm 2022

All previously published papers were reproduced with permission from the publisher. Published by Karolinska Institutet. Printed by Universitetsservice US-AB, 2022 © Linnea Johansson, 2022 ISBN 978-91-8016-515-0 Cover illustration: Emanuel Arnesson

MOBILE HEALTH INTERVENTIONS AND CARDIORESPIRATORY FITNESS IN PEDIATRIC OBESITY

THESIS FOR DOCTORAL DEGREE (Ph.D.)

By

Linnea Johansson

The thesis will be defended in public at the lecture hall Erna Möller, Blickagången 16, Flemingsberg. Friday June 17, at 9:00 am

Principal Supervisor: Ph.D. Pernilla Danielsson Liljeqvist Karolinska Institutet Department of Clinical Science, Intervention and Technology Division of Pediatrics

Co-supervisor(s): Professor Claude Marcus Karolinska Institutet Department of Clinical Science, Intervention and Technology Division of Pediatrics

Professor Maria Hagströmer Karolinska Institutet Department of Neurobiology, Care Sciences and Society Division of Physiotherapy *Opponent:* Associate Professor Ylva Trolle Lagerros Karolinska Institutet Department of Medicine, Solna Division of Clinical Epidemiology

Examination Board: Associate Professor Ingrid Larsson Sahlgrenska Academy at University of Gothenburg Department of Medicine Division of Molecular and Clinical Medicine

Professor Magnus Dencker Lund University Department of Translational Medicine Division of Clinical Physiology

Professor Ola Nilsson Örebro University Department of Medical Sciences Division of Pediatrics

We are only as strong as we are united, as weak as we are divided

Albus Dumbledore

POPULÄRVETENSKAPLIG SAMMANFATTNING

Obesitas är en kronisk sjukdom som uppskattas vara en av de vanligaste dödsorsakerna i världen. I Sverige har ca 80 000 barn mellan 4-15 år obesitas och sjukdomen är kopplad till en rad allvarliga följdsjukdomar, så som fettlever och diabetes typ 2. Dessutom är barn med obesitas i större utsträckning utsatta för mobbning, har en ökad risk för depression, och tar i lägre utsträckning studenten jämfört med andra barn. Med tanke på hälsoriskerna med obesitas är det viktigt att barn erbjuds behandling för sin sjukdom i så tidig ålder som möjligt för ökad möjlighet till bättre behandlingsresultat. Den vanligaste behandlingsmetoden är stöd till livsstilsförändringar, bland annat att få till en hälsosammare kost och ökad fysisk aktivitet. Behandlingsmetoden har endast visa sig ge en liten effekt på att minska graden av obesitas. Därför behövs nya behandlingsmetoder som ger bättre effekt och som möjliggör en tätare kontakt med sjukvården utan att vara för belastande för familjerna som får vård.

Denna avhandling har ett kliniskt fokus med syfte att förbättra vården och att förbättra förutsättningarna att utvärdera kondition hos barn med obesitas. Ett digitalt stödsystem för behandling av barnobesitas har testats i tre studier och baserat på lärdomar har systemet utvecklats från studie till studie. Systemet, mobilapplikationen, innefattar dagliga vägningar i hemmet som presenteras i en individuell målviktskurva med syfte att snabbt och tydligt behandlingsresultat till föräldrar och personal. Dessutom återkoppla finns meddelandefunktion med syfte att få till en tät kontakt mellan föräldrar och klinikpersonal. I två av studierna ingick också en aktivitetsmätare med syfte att öka motivationen till fysisk aktivitet och det digitala systemet var kombinerat med livsstilsbehandling enligt klinikernas vanliga rutiner. I den tredje studien integrerades det digitala systemet med en behandlingsmodell som snarare syftade till att stötta än att ge råd om livsstilsförändringar. I den första studien testades systemet i en mindre skala och resultaten visade att både personal och familjer var positiva till att använda det digitala stödet. Den andra studien kantades av stora tekniska svårigheter med systemet vilket medförde att många familjer avslutade sitt studiedeltagande och att engagemanget för användning av det digitala stödet var lågt från både familjer och personal. Efter teknisk förbättring av det digitala stödet visade den sista studien att app-användning medförde betydligt bättre behandlingsresultat jämfört med en grupp barn som enbart erhöll stöd till livsstilsförändringar. Detta är mycket lovande resultat som behöver befästas på fler behandlande enheter.

Denna avhandling innehåller också två studier med fokus på kondition. Låg kondition har kopplats till flertalet hälsorisker, bland annat hjärt- kärlsjukdom. Baserat på tidigare referensvärden har de allra flesta barn med obesitas en låg konditionsnivå. Att dessa barn hamnar i samma konditionsgrupp försvårar möjligheten att se individuella variationer och potentiella förbättringar av konditionen hos barn med obesitas. Därför togs nya referensvärden för kondition hos barn med obesitas fram, med syfte att underlätta den kliniska bedömningen. I samma studie framkom att konditionsnivåerna hos barn med obesitas minskat något mellan åren 1999-2013. Baserat på framtagna referensvärden visade resultaten i den sista studien, att barn med de lägsta konditionsnivåerna hade en högre grad inflammation, vilket inte berodde

på en högre grad av obesitas. Resultaten indikerar att det är viktigt för barn med obesitas att förbättra sin kondition eftersom det skulle kunna innebära minskad inflammation – en faktor som är kopplad till utveckling av bland annat diabetes och hjärt- och kärlsjukdom. Mer forskning krävs dock för att säkerställa att träning som förbättrar konditionen också kan minska inflammationsgraden hos barn med obesitas.

Det är sannolikt att digital vård kommer att spela en central roll i hälso- och sjukvården framöver. I denna avhandling lyfts lärdomar om vad som krävs för att en digital metod ska mottas väl från familjer och personal. Det digitala stödsystemet medförde mycket lovande behandlingsresultat och skulle därför kunna vara en effektiv digital behandlingsmetod som tidigare har saknats inom barnobesitasvården. Dessutom kan nya referensvärden underlätta den kliniska bedömningen av konditionsnivåer hos barn med obesitas – en viktig faktor för nuvarande och framtida hälsa.

ABSTRACT

Pediatric obesity treatment, preferably at an early age, is important since obesity severely impairs present and future health. Current approaches for lifestyle changes do not provide results of clinical relevance, and effective treatment approaches are needed. Further, children with obesity have lower cardiorespiratory fitness (CRF) than their normal-weight peers. Therefore, it is important to assess CRF in clinical practice and to understand its potential relation to other cardiometabolic risk factors in this group of children.

Study I investigated the feasibility, in terms of acceptability, compliance, usage of the intervention, and trial procedures, of a novel mobile Health (mHealth) intervention combined with standard behavioral treatment. The control group received standard behavioral treatment. After using the mHealth intervention for six months, parents and staff found it acceptable and reported that the intervention helped them to reach the treatment goal. Further, the intervention group had higher attendance at appointments than the control group.

In Study II, a randomized controlled multi-center trial was conducted to evaluate the effectiveness of the same mHealth intervention as in Study I. However, the RCT was hampered by low recruitment, high attrition, and severe technical issues resulting in that a process analysis was conducted to understand what went wrong, in specific relation to the intervention group. Barriers were found for both the mHealth intervention and the study design. Study enrollment before or during the summer negatively affected recruitment. Attrition among participants, mHealth usage and engagement among participants and staff were highly impaired by technical issues with the mHealth intervention.

After extensive adjustments regarding layout and technical functionality, Study III investigated the effect of the mHealth intervention and clinical appointments in a cohort of children at one obesity clinic. This group of children was compared with a randomly selected obesity cohort from a quality registry. At one-year follow-up the mHealth approach resulted in significantly better treatment results, of clinical relevance, compared with the control group.

In Study IV reference values for CRF in children with obesity were conducted aimed at enabling improved grading, in a clinical setting, of children's CRF health. The reference values were based on cross-sectional data from children with obesity performing a sub-maximal cycle ergometer test between 1999–2013. Analysis of CRF data showed a negative time trend whit a small but significant decrease of CRF over the studied years.

In Study V, potential associations between CRF and cardiometabolic risk factors were explored in children with obesity. Cross-sectional data showed a significant inverse relationship between CRF and inflammatory markers, and the association remained when adjusted for degree of obesity. Children with the lowest CRF levels according to the reference values, had higher levels of low-grade inflammation compared with children who had the highest CRF levels.

LIST OF SCIENTIFIC PAPERS

- Johansson L, Hagman E, Danielsson P.
 A novel interactive mobile health support system for pediatric obesity treatment: a randomized controlled feasibility trial *BMC Pediatrics 2020;20(1):447*.
- II. Johansson L, Hagströmer M, Marcus C, Danielsson P. Process evaluation of a randomized controlled trial with a mobile Health intervention for Swedish children with obesity—lessons learned *Manuscript*.
- III. Hagman E, Johansson L, Kollin C, Marcus E, Drangel A, Marcus L, Marcus C, Danielsson P.
 Effect of an interactive mobile health support system and daily weight measurements for pediatric obesity treatment, a one-year pragmatical clinical trial *International Journal of Obesity. Accepted for publication May 2022.*
- IV. Johansson L, Brissman M, Morinder G, Westerståhl M, Marcus C. Reference values and secular trends for cardiorespiratory fitness in children and adolescents with obesity *Acta Paediatrica 2020;109(8):1665-71.*
- V. Johansson L, Putri R, Danielsson P, Hagströmer M, Marcus C. Associations between cardiorespiratory fitness and cardiometabolic risk factors in a cohort of children and adolescents with obesity *Manuscript*.

CONTENTS

1	BAC	CKGRO	UND	1		
	1.1	PEDL	ATRIC OBESITY	1		
		1.1.1	Definition of pediatric obesity	1		
		1.1.2	Causes of pediatric obesity	1		
		1.1.3	Prevalence of pediatric obesity	2		
		1.1.4	Health consequences of pediatric obesity	3		
	1.2	PHYS	SICAL ACTIVITY AND CARDIORESPIRATORY FITNESS	4		
		1.2.1	Definition and assessment of physical activity	4		
		1.2.2	Physical activity and health effects	4		
		1.2.3	Definition and assessment of cardiorespiratory fitness	5		
		1.2.4	Cardiorespiratory fitness and health effects	5		
	1.3	PEDL	ATRIC OBESITY TREATMENT	7		
		1.3.1	Behavioral treatment	7		
		1.3.2	Treatment results	9		
		1.3.3	Challenges in pediatric obesity treatment	9		
	1.4	MOB	ILE HEALTH	10		
		1.4.1	Definition of Mobile Health	10		
		1.4.2	Mobile Health in obesity treatment	10		
	1.5	SUM	MARY	12		
2	RESEARCH AIMS					
	2.1	GENERAL AIMS				
	2.2	STUD	DY SPECIFIC AIMS	13		
3	MA	ΓERIAI	LS AND METHODS	14		
	3.1	STUD	OY DESIGN AND ELIGIBILITY CRITERIA	14		
		3.1.1	Study I	14		
		3.1.2	Study II	14		
		3.1.3	Study III	16		
		3.1.4	Study IV	16		
		3.1.5	Study V	16		
		3.1.6	The mHealth intervention	17		
		3.1.7	Standard treatment and mHealth integrated treatment	18		
		3.1.8	The Swedish Childhood Obesity Treatment Register (BORIS)	19		
	3.2	MEAS	SUREMENTS	19		
		3.2.1	Anthropometry and weight outcomes	19		
		3.2.2	mHealth usage and questionnaires	19		
		3.2.3	Recruitment, attrition, and working time for clinical staff	20		
		3.2.4	Cardiorespiratory fitness	20		
		3.2.5	BORIS data	20		
	3.3	STAT	ISTICAL ANALYSES	20		
	3.4	ETHI	CAL APPROVAL	21		
		3.4.1	Ethical considerations	21		

	3.5	CONF	FLICTS OF INTERESTS	22		
4	RES	ULTS		23		
	4.1	PART	ICIPANTS	23		
	4.2	4.2 WEIGHT OUTCOMES (STUDY I & III)				
	4.3	.3 MOBILE HEALTH USAGE (STUDY I–III)				
		4.3.1	Parent experience of mHealth usage (Study I & II)	25		
		4.3.2	Staff experience of mHealth usage (Study I & II)			
	4.4	RECR	UITMENT AND ATTRITION (STUDY I-III)			
	4.5	CARE	DIORESPIRATORY FITNESS	27		
5	DISC	CUSSIC	DN	31		
	5.1	MAIN	FINDINGS	31		
	5.2	TREA	TMENT EFFECT	31		
	5.3	CHAL	LENGES IN PEDIATRIC OBESITY TRIALS	32		
		5.3.1	Recruitment	32		
		5.3.2	Study design	32		
		5.3.3	Attrition	33		
		5.3.4	The clinical context	34		
	5.4	MOBI	LE HEALTH-CHALLENGES AND OPPORTUNITIES	34		
	5.5	POTE	NTIAL HARM OF TREATMENT	35		
	5.6	6.6 CARDIORESPIRATORY FITNESS AND SECULAR TRENDS				
	5.7	7 REFERENCE VALUES AND RESPONSIVENESS TO EXERCISE				
	5.8	5.8 CARDIORESPIRATORY FITNESS AND CARDIOMETABOLIC				
		RISK		37		
	5.9	ASSE	SSING CARDIORESPIRATORY FITNESS—			
		CONS	DIDERATIONS			
	5.10	LIMIT	TATIONS			
	5.11	CLINI	ICAL IMPLICATIONS	40		
6	CON	CLUSI	ONS	41		
7	FUTURE PERSPECTIVE					
8	ACK	NOWL	EDGEMENTS	45		
	8.1	FUND	DING	47		
9	REF	ERENC	'ES	49		

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

ADD	Attention deficit disorder
ADHD	Attention deficit hyperactivity disorder
App	Application
BM	Body mass
BMI	Body mass index
BORIS	The Swedish Childhood Obesity Treatment Register
CDC	Centers for Disease Control and Prevention
CRF	Cardiorespiratory fitness
CVD	Cardiovascular disease
ED	Eating disorders
FFM	Fat free mass
HR	Heart rate
hs-CRP	High-sensitivity c-reactive protein
IOTF	The International Obesity Task Force
LGI	Low-grade inflammation
MAFLD	Metabolic (dysfunction)-associated fatty liver disease
MET	Metabolic equivalent
mHealth	Mobile Health
NPT	Normalization Process Theory
PA	Physical activity
PF	Physical fitness
RCT	Randomized controlled trial
SDS	Standard deviation score
SES	Socioeconomic status
T2DM	Type 2 diabetes mellitus
VLCD	Very-low-calorie-diet
VO _{2max}	Maximal oxygen uptake
VO _{2peak}	Peak oxygen uptake
WHO	World Health Organization

1 BACKGROUND

1.1 PEDIATRIC OBESITY

1.1.1 Definition of pediatric obesity

Overweight and obesity among children and adults is defined by body mass index (BMI). BMI is calculated as weight (kg) divided by height (m) squared (kg/m²), and in adults a BMI of 25–29.9 equals overweight, and a BMI \geq 30 is defined as obesity. Since growth patterns in children varies widely based on age and sex, the BMI classification differs from adults. In Sweden, the most frequently used classification for pediatric obesity, adopted by the International Obesity Task Force (IOTF), is based on age- and sex-specific cut-offs corresponding with the obesity definition for adults (1). Other countries commonly use pediatric obesity classifications from the World Health Organization (WHO) (2) or the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) (3).

Since height and weight in children follows a growth pattern, BMI is not a suitable measure to detect changes in degree of obesity in an individual or to compare degree of obesity between different children. Instead, age- and sex-specific standard deviation scores (SDS) of BMI have been developed (1, 4). Therefore, BMI SDS makes it possible to detect changes in obesity over time and to compare the degree of obesity, and changes in degree of obesity, between children of different age and sex. In Sweden, the reference for BMI SDS, recommended by the IOTF, is most commonly used (1).

1.1.2 Causes of pediatric obesity

Obesity is caused by a persistent imbalance between caloric intake and energy expenditure. The reason for this imbalance is complex, and it involves both environmental and genetic factors. Although it is rare, obesity can be caused by genetic syndromes such as Prader-Willi and Laurence Moon Bardet Biedl, or by endocrine disorders for example growth hormone deficiency and hypothyroidism. However, less than 1% of children with obesity have the disease secondary to syndromes or endocrine disorders (5). Nevertheless, genetic factors contribute to the development of obesity. Genome-wide association studies, including adults, have identified >750 genetic markers (loci) that together explain 6% of variation in BMI (6, 7). Several of these have also been seen in children with obesity, showing that the genetic impact on obesity is present across life (8). However, for most identified genetic markers, it is unknown how they affect body weight (7). Further, epigenetics, i.e., heritable changes affecting the gene expression but not the DNA, may also play an important role in developing obesity (9) as well as intrauterine exposure to hyperglycemia (10).

Parental obesity is a known risk factor for developing obesity as a child (11, 12). Maternal and paternal BMI are predictors for pediatric obesity (13) and children with severe obesity are more likely to have two parents with obesity (14). Twin- and adoption studies have shown that both genetic and environmental factors, e.g., social context, eating habits, and parental occupation, affect childhood BMI. However, the effect of environmental factors seems to vanish in adolescence while the effect of genetic factors remains from child- to adulthood (15-17).

Socioeconomic status (SES) is a combination of measures, e.g., education, income, and occupation, aiming to provide an overview of the child's context and social standing (18). Low SES is related to, and a risk factor for developing pediatric obesity (19, 20), however, the mechanisms behind the relationship are not known (19).

Depression is positively associated with pediatric obesity and the relationship may be bidirectional (21). It has also been shown that children with obesity have an increased risk of developing depressive disorders and that successful obesity treatment is associated with lower risk (22). Other known factors related to obesity, but without any established causation, is intellectual disability (23), attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) (24), sleep duration, and late sleep (25, 26).

The environmental factors regarding access to sweet snacks, fast foods, and sugar sweetened beverages have increased rapidly during the 50 last years (27, 28). Studies have shown an association between fast food and weight gain in children and adults (29, 30) and sugar-sweetened beverages have been found to cause an increased BMI in children (31, 32).

The energy expenditure can be increased by physical activity (PA). Several cross-sectional studies, based on either self-reported or device measured PA, have found that higher levels of PA are associated with lower BMI and other measures of adiposity (33-35). Longitudinal studies, with device measured data, are scarce and the potential causality between PA and obesity in childhood has not been thoroughly investigated (36-38). Regarding sedentary behavior and obesity in childhood, Biddle et al. (39) conducted a systematic review of 29 systematic reviews showing a positive relationship between self-reported screen time and adiposity. For studies with device measured sedentary behavior or with a longitudinal design, the positive associations were smaller or non-existing, and causality could not be detected.

1.1.3 Prevalence of pediatric obesity

The global prevalence of obesity has increased dramatically during the last 40 years in both adults and children (40). In the year of 1975, 0.7% of the girls and 0.9% of the boys 5–19 years old had obesity. In 2016, the rates of obesity had increased to 5.6% and 7.8% among girls and

boys respectively. However, a recent trend has shown that the acceleration of BMI is levelling off in some areas e.g., northwestern Europe, but an augmentation is seen in other regions such as east and south Asia (41). Although a flattening trend of obesity has been detected, it seems to be an increased prevalence in children with low SES, and the inequalities in socioeconomic groups are growing (42). Of Swedish children 10 years and younger, 3-5% have obesity (43-46), and the prevalence is higher in deprived and rural areas (47).

1.1.4 Health consequences of pediatric obesity

Pediatric obesity is associated with an increased risk of cardiovascular death and all-cause mortality in adulthood (48-50). Additionally, obesity affects present cardiometabolic risk in children and adolescents (51). Several studies have shown significant associations between pediatric obesity and abnormal cardiometabolic markers-both on clustered cardiovascular risk (52, 53) and separately studied risk factors e.g., cholesterol, triglyceride levels, blood pressure, and inflammatory biomarkers (54-57). Moreover, pediatric obesity increases the risk of developing metabolic (dysfunction)-associated fatty liver disease (MAFLD) (58) and severity of obesity is associated with severity of liver disease (59). Alongside with higher rates of pediatric obesity worldwide, the prevalence of type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) in children has increased (60). In Sweden, T2DM is still rare compared to other European countries (61, 62), however, there is a high prevalence of prediabetes among Swedish adolescents with severe obesity (63). Another obesity complication, for both adults and children, is a higher frequency of low-grade inflammation (LGI) (57, 64, 65) which is involved in the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis and of developing cardiovascular disease, autoimmune disease, and several cancers (66-69). Further, evidence suggest that girls with obesity have an earlier pubertal onset, while conflicting results in boys have been reported (70, 71). The underlying mechanisms are not fully understood, however, changes in regulatory hormones and adipokines seem to be involved. Additionally, children with obesity more often experience musculoskeletal difficulties which can negatively affect the physical activity level and functional capacity (72).

In a Swedish nationwide prospective cohort study, it was shown that children with obesity had lower odds of completing ≥ 12 school years, compared to a matched comparison group. The lower odds remained even after adjusting for parental SES (73). Further, neuropsychiatric comorbidities, especially ADHD and attention deficit disorder (ADD), are common among children with obesity (24). In Swedish children and adolescents with obesity, the prevalence of depression and anxiety is higher compared with their normal weight peers (22). Moreover, children with obesity are frequently exposed to bullying and harassment (74, 75) and studies have reported reduced quality of life (76) and low self-esteem (77) among these children. Although pediatric obesity may increase the risk for developing eating disorders (particularly binge eating disorder and bulimia nervosa) in adolescence (78, 79), the possible relation between weight stigma and eating disorders needs to be further evaluated (80).

With the above-mentioned aspects in mind, clinical staff must pay attention to both physiological consequences and psychosocial stressors, and there is generally a need for collaboration with other health care providers (e.g., somatic care and psychiatry), school, and social services.

1.2 PHYSICAL ACTIVITY AND CARDIORESPIRATORY FITNESS

1.2.1 Definition and assessment of physical activity

PA is defined as:"...any bodily movement produced by skeletal muscles that results in energy expenditure". Exercise is as subgroup to PA with the difference that exercise is planned, repetitive, and aims to maintain or improve physical fitness (81). Level of PA includes frequency (how often), duration (how long) and intensity (how hard). Intensity can be described relative to a person's metabolic equivalent (MET), i.e., the energy cost for an individual of a certain activity. Rest is equal to 1 MET whereas moderate- and vigorous intensity is equal to 3 to <6 METs and \geq 6 METs, respectively (82, 83). PA in at least moderate intensity is necessary to improve or maintain CRF (84).

Measuring and assessing physical activity is necessary for evaluating different interventions in school settings, leisure time, or in research. There are several approaches for measuring PA, both subjective data collection i.e., questionnaires or interviews, and device measured data collection e.g., accelerometers or pedometers. The choice of assessment method is based on the PA component of interest, e.g., sedentary behavior, intensity of PA, or total energy expenditure (85). PA assessed by accelerometry is more precise than subjective data (86), however, the device measured data collection is hampered by the lack of consensus regarding device placement and approaches for processing data. Therefore, research findings from studies using accelerometry might not be comparable (87).

1.2.2 Physical activity and health effects

Regular PA is necessary for normal growth and development of physical fitness (PF) i.e., muscular strength, flexibility, motor control and cardiorespiratory fitness (CRF) (88). In children, it is well known that weight bearing PA improves bone mineralization and muscular fitness (89), and PA can have a positive effect on aerobic fitness (90, 91), blood pressure, blood lipids, and insulin sensitivity (92, 93). Further, increased PA is associated with lower

depressive symptoms in adolescents (94) and affects the attention and academic performance in preadolescent children (95).

1.2.3 Definition and assessment of cardiorespiratory fitness

CRF is a subcategory to PF, related to endurance and ability to perform daily tasks, and handle unexpected events requiring physical performance (81). CRF is dependent on the circulatory and respiratory system and their ability to transport oxygen from the atmosphere to the muscle cells. Since CRF involves several processes and systems it is considered a measure of total body health (96). In children, CRF is affected by multiple factors such as age, sex, physical maturity, body composition, health status, and genetics (97).

CRF can be measured through maximal oxygen uptake (VO_{2max}) which is the maximal amount of oxygen a person can consume in a limited period of time (98). Further, CRF is commonly expressed as VO_{2peak} which have been described as the peak oxygen uptake at a single test (99) or when a VO₂ plateau is not reached (100). Direct tests, where expiratory air is analyzed in a laboratory setting, is generally considered the gold standard for CRF assessment (101). CRF can also be assessed by indirect tests, of either maximal or submaximal character, where the maximal oxygen uptake is estimated (88). It is known that indirect test are not as precise as direct tests, and the use of indirect tests in children has been criticized (102). Although direct tests are more accurate, they are difficult to perform in a clinical setting due to advanced and costly equipment. Further, the direct test might not be suitable for some patient groups, e.g., children with overweight and obesity (103). Indirect tests are frequently used in clinical settings, and there are several established approaches e.g., 20-m-shuttle run (104), the six minute walk test (105), and the Åstrand-Rhyming test (106, 107).

VO_{2max} is usually expressed in absolute values and/or in relation to either body mass (BM), often expressed as body weight in kilograms (kg), or fat free mass (FFM). According to Armstrong & Welsman (102), FFM provides a more accurate presentation of CRF, since it has a stronger relationship with CRF compared with BM. However, in clinical practice FFM is difficult to measure due to expensive assessments, e.g., dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry, and imprecise accuracy, i.e., bioelectrical impedance, for children with obesity (108, 109).

1.2.4 Cardiorespiratory fitness and health effects

Both PA and CRF in children are related to cardiometabolic risk factors (110-112). However, CRF appears to be more strongly related (113), which may be connected to a greater misclassification of PA compared with measured CRF (111), but also that genetic factors affect CRF, independent of PA, and that these factors are of importance for health (114, 115).

A vast number of cross-sectional studies have found that low CRF in children and adolescents is associated with an increased cardiometabolic risk in terms of elevated blood pressure (116-118), insulin resistance (119-121), unfavorable lipid profile (122, 123), elevated biomarkers for MAFLD (124, 125), LGI (126-128), and different types of cardiometabolic risk scores (52, 53, 111, 112, 129-132). In a systematic review of 38 longitudinal studies, including 44 169 children, it was concluded that half of the studies showed an inverse association between CRF and the metabolic syndrome two years later. However, several studies failed to control for adiposity, which is an important confounding factor (133). In fact, there is growing evidence for obesity having a greater impact on cardiometabolic risk compared to CRF (53, 130, 134, 135). In a recent large longitudinal analysis of 5 869 Chinese children, it was found that both CRF and BMI were independent predictors of changes in cardiometabolic risk factors. BMI was a major mediator for the association between CRF and changes in cardiometabolic risk, whereas CRF was a smaller, but statistically significant, mediator for the association between BMI and changes in cardiometabolic risk. The inverse association between baseline CRF and changes in cardiometabolic risk was only significant for individuals with high BMI levels (135). These findings are in line with other cross-sectional studies showing that high CRF is inversely associated with cardiometabolic risk factors, mainly for children and adolescents with obesity (53, 136). This indicates that having a high CRF is especially important for individuals with obesity.

Several studies have found that CRF in healthy pediatric populations have decreased globally since the 1980s (137-139). Further, recent literature has found that the negative secular trend was more pronounced from around 1980 to early 2000, and that the decline in CRF thereafter seems to have stabilized (140, 141). The reasons behind the decrease in CRF are not known, however, the global increase of pediatric obesity and a decrease of physical activity in children during the last decades have been suggested as possible contributing factors (137, 139, 141, 142). To the best of my knowledge, temporal trends of CRF in Swedish children and adolescents with obesity have not previously been explored.

Several reference values for CRF, for screening of health and fitness, have been presented for healthy pediatric populations (143-145). Although categorizing individuals as having a high or a low CRF is frequently used in research (53, 125, 136, 146), there is no uniform definition of low CRF. However, having a CRF below the lowest quartile or quintile of a reference population is commonly used as a cut-off (88, 147) and specific cut points for children and adolescents have also been published (148). Since most children with obesity have a low CRF (149, 150) the rough classification of low and high CRF is of limited clinical value. From a

clinical perspective, more precise CRF levels for children with obesity would facilitate the interpretation of the test results and the evaluation of changes in CRF.

1.3 PEDIATRIC OBESITY TREATMENT

Since pediatric obesity is a multifaceted disease, the treatment approach requires a combination of several components. Behavioral treatment, focusing on lifestyle changes regarding improved eating habits and increased physical activity, is the most common treatment (151). If the patient is not responding to treatment, the approach needs to be intensified. In addition to behavioral treatment, there are other available approaches, such as pharmacotherapy and bariatric surgery, primarily for teenagers. A recent advancement in Swedish pediatric obesity treatment is the possibility to prescribe Saxenda[®] (Liraglutide) for children twelve years and older. This treatment option combined with behavior change, have resulted in better treatment results compared with placebo and behavior change (152). Another advancement is the possibility to treat adolescents with severe obesity or with comorbidities with bariatric surgery, preceded by thorough investigation and discussion in a Swedish interdisciplinary consultation group. For most adolescents, bariatric surgery has shown a great decrease in BMI, and remission of T2DM (153, 154). Further, very-low-calorie-diet (VLCD), consisting of prepared formulas, can provide short-term decrease in BMI (155). All treatment options, whether it is obesity surgery, pharmacotherapy, or recommendations on changed dietary habits, strive to lower the energy intake-there is no other way to reach a healthy weight.

1.3.1 Behavioral treatment

Behavioral treatment can consist of individual appointments or group sessions and is recommended to be carried out by multidisciplinary teams (151). These teams often consist of a pediatrician, nurse, and dietician, and in some cases also by a physiotherapist, psychologist, and an occupational therapist. Different settings and communication techniques can be used in pediatric obesity treatment, e.g., motivational interviewing where the patient's emotions are acknowledged (156), and parent-only sessions focusing on positive parent practices (157). Most interventions do not include any specific diets; rather, what is prevention for one child can be treatment for another (158). For children in obesity treatment the main dietary goal is to reduce energy intake and to create healthy eating habits. Most recommendations, such as sufficient intake of fruit and vegetables, decreased sugar consumption, and choosing healthy beverages, are general and applies to all children regardless of weight (159). Limiting sugar-sweetened beverages seems especially important for weight loss (31, 160).

Although both dietary changes and increased physical activity are recommended components in behavioral pediatric obesity treatment (161, 162), PA only marginally affects weight loss (163). However, PA has a positive impact on comorbidities, as previously described in this thesis, and PA on a vigorous intensity i.e., being warm and short breathed, is more strongly associated with improvements in CRF compared with moderate-intensity PA (164). Children with obesity are encouraged to meet the general recommendation of physical activity, i.e., children 5 years and older should be physically active at least 60 minutes every day on a moderate to vigorous intensity and aerobic activities of vigorous intensity as well as exercise that strengthens skeleton and muscles should be performed at least three times a week (83).

If recommendations and information would do the trick, obesity would be easily treated. However, changing lifestyle is far more complex than that. In the clinical setting, most individuals with obesity are aware of general recommendations about diet and physical activity but knowing what is good for you is not enough to change a behavior. Therefore, support for behavior change should be included as a treatment component (165). In a recent systematic review (166), including 108 trials, provision of information alone was the least effective approach to change short-term diet-related outcomes in children. However, information in combination with other behavioral change aspects was more effective (166). In behavioral treatment, goal setting is an important aspect (167). In adults, a realistic weight loss goal is important for both achieving weight loss and for weight maintenance (168). For growing children, weight loss goals are obstructed by the fact that a child can gain weight and still have a reduction of BMI SDS; since children grow taller, the weight does not clearly reflect the change in degree of obesity. Further, self-monitoring is thought to increase the awareness of a changed behavior and is therefore described as a core component of behavioral obesity treatment (168, 169). Examples of self-monitoring are regular recording of food-intake, performed PA, and weight. In adults, self-monitoring of diet, PA and weight has been found effective for weight loss (170-172). In a recent study on adults with overweight or obesity, adherence to dietary self-monitoring resulted in greater weight loss, however, these findings became insignificant when controlling for self-monitored weight and PA. Additionally, adherence to self-monitoring of weight resulted in a greater weight loss, independent of selfmonitored diet and PA (173). In children, some studies have found self-monitoring of diet and PA to result in a modest weight loss, while others have not seen a significant effect (174, 175). To the best of my knowledge, no study has previously evaluated self-monitoring of weight in children.

Initiating obesity treatment at an early age is important to receive favorable results, in terms of decreased BMI SDS, and the reduction of BMI SDS seems to diminish or cease at an older age (176). Another crucial factor for a reduction in degree of obesity is the total time for treatment. At least 26 hours of treatment per year give significantly better treatment results than less time in treatment (158). Several systematic reviews have found that pediatric obesity treatment does not increase the risk of eating disorders (ED), on the contrary, obesity treatment seems to reduce ED risk and symptoms (177-179).

1.3.2 Treatment results

Pediatric obesity is a chronic disease (180), however, obesity remission is possible (181). Therefore, the long-term treatment goal should be obesity remission. Nevertheless, individual variations will affect the time and possibilities to reach this goal. There is no agreed definition regarding what a successful treatment result is. Most studies and evaluations of treatment effectiveness include some type of weight outcome, most commonly BMI or BMI SDS. A decrease in BMI SDS by at least 0.25 units have showed positive effects on cardiometabolic markers, and these results are therefore often referred to as clinically relevant (182, 183). Most pediatric obesity clinics in Sweden register data on treatment progress in the Swedish Childhood Obesity Treatment Register (BORIS), where change in BMI SDS is graphically presented. Nevertheless, I would dare to say that BMI SDS is rarely used as a treatment outcome in Swedish clinical practice; instead, the weight charts from the medical records, including the IOTF criteria for overweight and obesity, is used more often.

Other important treatment outcomes are improvements in biochemical markers, blood pressure and CRF (181, 184). Further, measures of behavior change, e.g., decreased intake of sugary drinks, is frequently reported in research (185, 186). In my experience, outcomes of behavior change are regularly evaluated in the clinical setting combined with the treatment results described above.

1.3.3 Challenges in pediatric obesity treatment

Between the years of 2004 and 2016 the treatment effect, regarding change in BMI SDS, decreased significantly in Swedish children with obesity. A possible reason for the impaired treatment effect is that more children are treated, but the resources in the health care system has not increased (181). Further, the high treatment intensity needed for clinically relevant treatment results (158) is demanding for both health care and the involved families, and therefore usually not met (187). Hence, new effective and time efficient treatment approaches are needed.

Another challenge in pediatric obesity treatment is the high attrition rate (188, 189), and in Sweden, attrition rates after one year in treatment have increased from 20% to 40% during the last decade (181). Treatment satisfaction seems to be an important factor in attending clinic appointments, and logistic barriers—i.e., travel distance, and school- and work absence— contributes to attrition (188, 189). Further, since weight in kg is not an intuitive outcome for children with obesity it can be difficult for both parents and clinical staff to evaluate the child's treatment progress and to set treatment goals. It is therefore vital to facilitate interpretation of the treatment outcome, in terms of weight change.

1.4 MOBILE HEALTH

1.4.1 Definition of Mobile Health

More than 50 definitions are available for the word eHealth, and most of them include the words health, technology, and internet (190). One suggested definition is that eHealth is "the use, in the health sector, of digital data—transmitted, stored and retrieved electronically—for clinical, educational and administrative purposes, both at the local site and at a distance"(191). Mobile Health (mHealth) is a subgroup to eHealth, and WHO have described that mHealth "is a medical and public health practice supported by mobile devices, such as mobile phones, patient monitoring devices, personal digital assistants, and other wireless devices" (192).

1.4.2 Mobile Health in obesity treatment

Because of its potential to increase geographic reach and to reduce barriers towards attending physical appointments, the use of mHealth has expanded rapidly (193). Text messaging is a common mHealth approach that can be used for encouraging messages from the clinical staff, reporting of self-monitored weight, diet, and physical activity, or a combination of mentioned aspects. Furthermore, specific mobile applications (apps) are used frequently in mHealth (194). These apps can include an educational aspect, goal setting, and feedback (175, 195, 196). Further, mHealth interventions can either be used as stand-alone-interventions or as an add-on to standard treatment (194, 197). In pediatric obesity treatment, several mHealth approaches are feasible and well received by children and their parents, however, there is a large heterogeneity between interventions resulting in difficulties when comparing approaches (198, 199). Interventions have been found effective in reducing attrition and increasing motivation and goal-setting-behavior (195, 200). According to recent literature, mHealth interventions results in small but significantly better short-term improvements in weight status compared with control groups (201-203). Within the last year, two systematic reviews and meta-analyses have been published, evaluating RCTs including mHealth interventions for children with

overweight and obesity. In both studies, mHealth interventions were concluded as more effective than other approaches (201, 202). In the study by Azevedo et al. (201) most of the included RCTs were feasibility or pilot trials with few participants. Further, both reviews (201, 202) had a combined inclusion of 29 studies, of which 18 studies lasted less than one year. For RCTs evaluating effectiveness, i.e., not pilot- or feasibility trials, of mHealth interventions including apps or text messages, only three studies lasted at least one year (204-206). Therefore, more research is needed to explore the long-term effects of mHealth interventions. Moreover, to my knowledge, there are no publications on mHealth interventions including objective data on self-monitored weight.

1.5 SUMMARY

Pediatric obesity and treatment

- Pediatric obesity is a chronic disease affecting present and future health
- Behavioral interventions are the most common form of treatment for children and adolescents with obesity, and clinically relevant treatment results require high treatment intensity
- Results of behavioral treatment in Sweden has worsened recently and new effective approaches for treating pediatric obesity are needed
- Mobile Health interventions in childhood obesity have potential to decrease logistic barriers and to improve treatment intensity
- Evaluated mHealth interventions in pediatric obesity show small or no effects on weight status, dietary changes and physical activity—therefore, more effective mHealth approaches are necessary

Cardiorespiratory fitness in children with obesity

- Low levels of CRF are associated with increased cardiometabolic risk factors and children with obesity generally have lower CRF compared with their normal weight peers
- In the general population, CRF in children has declined over the last decades, but if the same trend is seen for children with obesity have not previsouly been studied
- Several reference values for CRF and their relation to cardiometabolic risk in healthy pediatric populations have been presented, however, no obesity specific reference values have previously been reported and evaluated

2 RESEARCH AIMS

2.1 GENERAL AIMS

The purpose of this thesis was two-fold. First, it aimed to evaluate parents' and clinical staff's experience, and the child's weight outcome from using a mobile Health intervention in pediatric obesity treatment. Second, it aimed to facilitate the assessment of cardiorespiratory fitness and explore associations between CRF and cardiometabolic risk factors in children with obesity.

2.2 STUDY SPECIFIC AIMS

Study I

The aim was to study feasibility in terms of trial design, mHealth usage, compliance, and acceptability of the treatment from parents and clinical staff.

Study II

The initial study aim was to evaluate the effectiveness of an mHealth intervention together with standard treatment (intervention) compared to standard treatment (control). Because of several pitfalls the trial could not be conducted as intended. Therefore, the final aim was to understand barriers, in specific relation to recruitment, attrition and mHealth usage, of a multi-center randomized controlled trial (RCT) involving an mHealth intervention for pediatric obesity treatment.

Study III

The aim was to assess one-year weight outcome for children and adolescents in pediatric obesity treatment using an mHealth intervention compared with standard treatment.

Study IV

The aim was to present age- and sex-specific reference values for CRF among children and adolescents with obesity. The study also aimed to analyze the secular trends of CRF in the studied population.

Study V

The aim was to explore potential associations between CRF, i.e., absolute- and relative maximal oxygen uptake (VO_{2max}), and cardiometabolic risk in children with obesity. The aim was further, to explore if cardiometabolic risk differed between different CRF levels according to the reference values presented in Study IV.

3 MATERIALS AND METHODS

This chapter briefly describes the methods and materials of the five studies included in this thesis. Detailed information about each study can be found in the attached papers (I-V).

3.1 STUDY DESIGN AND ELIGIBILITY CRITERIA

3.1.1 Study I

The first trial was a parallel randomized controlled feasibility trial in which two treatment approaches for pediatric obesity were studied for six months. Included participants were referred to one of the three involved pediatric clinics in the Stockholm region between September 2017 and February 2018. The eligibility criteria were a) age 5–12 years, b) obesity according to the IOTF (1), c) parents speaking Swedish, d) parents being able to use a smartphone, and e) no pharmacological treatment affecting the obesity intervention. The exclusion criteria were a) diagnosed or ongoing assessment of neuropsychiatric disorder, b) obesity treatment during the last six months, and c) hypothalamic obesity.

If a child fulfilled the eligibility criteria the researchers provided verbal and written information about the trial. If the family was interested in participation written informed consent was collected from the parents together with written assent from the child. Thereafter the child was randomized to either an mHealth intervention as an addition to standard treatment (intervention) or to standard treatment (control) using sealed coded envelopes. One block randomization (1:1) was conducted for each involved pediatric clinic. The intervention- and control arm of the trial is further described in section 4.1.6. Since this feasibility trial was explorative, no power calculation was conducted.

3.1.1.1 Feasibility trials

Interventions in pediatric obesity treatment are complex, i.e., involves several interacting components between the intervention- and the control arm, includes multiple aspects to create behavioral change among participants, and are affected by the behaviors of the clinical staff. According to the Medical Research Council guidance (207) for developing and evaluating complex interventions, pilot or feasibility trials are advised prior to a full-scale RCT in order to address potential difficulties e.g., acceptance, compliance, and recruitment. However, there is currently no consensus about what the difference between a feasibility- and a pilot study really is. Thabane et al (208) presents different, but similar, definitions of what a pilot- and a feasibility study is and emphasize that the main focus of a pilot study should be to assess feasibility. Arain et al (209) found that studies labeled as 'feasibility' or 'pilot' trials had different characteristics, while the extended CONSORT 2010 statement uses the terms feasibility and pilot interchangeably (210).

3.1.2 Study II

The second study was a continuation of the feasibility trial, and the original plan was to evaluate the effectiveness of an mHealth intervention in a multi-center RCT. The RCT was conducted

but failed in several aspect, specifically regarding insufficient recruitment, high attrition and low mHealth usage in the intervention group. This situation raised questions about what it was that went wrong and how we could learn from these mistakes. Therefore, a retrospectively planned process evaluation, based on Normalization Process Theory (NPT) was perform. The evaluation was directed at a) the RCT and b) the mHealth intervention part of the RCT. The mHealth intervention is further described in section 4.1.6.

3.1.2.1 The RCT

The evaluated parallel open-label multi-center RCT, with a duration of 12 months, was conducted at ten pediatric clinics in Sweden. Trial enrolment took place between April and September 2018. The eligibility criteria were equal to the feasibility trial with one exception; the inclusion criterion of no obesity treatment during the last six months was changed to either no previous obesity treatment or obesity treatment the last 9–15 months with unsatisfying results (change in BMI SDS ≤ 0.25 units).

If a child fulfilled the eligibility criteria the clinical staff provided verbal and written information about the trial. If the family was interested in participation written informed consent was collected from the parents together with written assent from the child. The child was allocated to either an mHealth intervention as an addition to standard treatment (intervention) or to standard treatment (control). One block randomization (1:1) was conducted for each pediatric clinic by a digital randomization program. Of participants at each clinic, 50% should have no prior treatment and 50% previous treatment during the last 9–15 months resulting in a change in BMI SDS of ≤ 0.25 units.

To detect a difference of 0.25 BMI SDS units between the intervention- and control group, with a power of 80% and an estimated attrition rate of 30%, 60 children in each trial arm were required. Estimated standard deviation of BMI SDS was set to 0.4 units.

3.1.2.2 Normalization Process Theory

Complex interventions are affected by the context where they take place, and some adaptions are usually necessary between different contexts. Therefore, replication of a trial including a complex intervention can be difficult. To understand different aspects of the intervention and the trial, process evaluations can be conducted (211). The Normalization Process Theory was originally developed to evaluate implementation of complex interventions within the health care system and is mainly aimed to understand the work groups or individuals do to make the intervention become a natural part of the clinical work (212-215). Further, NPT can be used as a framework for designing and planning intervention make sense to involved individuals or groups; *cognitive participation*, addressing engagement; *collective action*, the work groups or individuals do to make the interventions become a natural part of the daily environment, and *reflexive monitoring*, how involved individuals appraise the intervention. These four components interact with the *context*, e.g., organizational structure and group processes (216).

3.1.3 Study III

The third study was a pragmatic clinical trial, lasting 12 months, where children and adolescents treated for obesity at Martina Children's Hospital in Stockholm, were included. The clinic was established in August 2018 and provide an mHealth intervention (section 4.1.6) integrated in the behavioral obesity treatment. All patients with obesity, 4–17 years, referred to the clinic between August 2018 and March 2019 were included in the trial. No additional clinical appointments or measurements were needed for the included participants. This group of children was compared to an age- and sex-matched control group (ratio 3:1) that was randomly selected from 2852 eligible children in BORIS. All participants in the control group had obesity and started treatment between October 2017 and January 2019. Further, no children in the control group attended tertiary care (at university clinics). The control group received standard treatment further described in section 4.1.7. One-year weight outcome was based on data from BORIS (section 4.1.8).

3.1.3.1 Pragmatic trials

Pragmatic trials, frequently used for evaluating complex interventions, are designed to show a real-world effectiveness of an intervention in a patient group that is less narrow than participants usually included in RCTs (217). Pragmatic trials are different from RCTs in several aspects. First, participants and the setting should be similar with the general patient group and clinics; second, the intervention should be compared with a group receiving standard treatment; third, follow-up appointments and flexibility for delivering the intervention should be similar to standard routines, and fourth, the primary outcome should be highly relevant to the participants (218). Depending on the studied area, both RCTs and pragmatic trials may include similar aspects. Nevertheless, an RCT is generally designed to evaluate effectiveness of an intervention in an idealized setting, while a pragmatic trial strives to inform clinical practice about questions of interest (217, 218).

3.1.4 Study IV

This was a cross-sectional study of cardiorespiratory fitness in a cohort of Swedish children and adolescents with obesity, starting treatment at the National Childhood Obesity Center, at Karolinska University Hospital between the years of 1999 and 2013. Eligible participants, age 8–20 years, were classified with obesity according to IOTF and had completed a submaximal cycle ergometer test with a heart rate (HR) \geq 120 beats per minute (bpm) at the end of the test. Individuals with a HR too high to estimate VO_{2max} were excluded. The need of informed consent was waived since data on CRF, and anthropometric measures were previously collected.

3.1.5 Study V

This was a cross-sectional study on CRF and cardiometabolic risk in a cohort of Swedish children and adolescents with obesity, starting treatment at Martina Children's Hospital in Stockholm, between January 2019 and August 2021. Eligible participants, age 9–17 years,

were classified with obesity according to IOTF, had completed a submaximal cycle ergometer test with a HR \geq 120 bpm at the end of the test, and having collected blood samples or BP within 45 days of the performed cycle ergometer test. Exclusion criteria were genetic syndromes, diabetes, heart- or blood disorders, diagnosed thyroid disease, using central nervous system stimulants, long-acting beta2-agonists, or short-acting beta2-agonists (the latter the same day as performing the cycle ergometer test). The study was based on data from BORIS (section 4.1.8).

3.1.6 The mHealth intervention

The mHealth intervention, developed by Health Support Sweden AB (Evira AB in Study III) differed somewhat between Study I-III (Figure 1). In all three studies the intervention consisted of a mobile app used by parents/adolescents and of a clinic's interface used by staff. The children/adolescents were instructed to perform self-weighing daily. To reduce focus on a single weight measurement the scale did not show any weight outcome. Instead, the measured weight was transferred, via Bluetooth, from the body scale to the mobile app and thereafter to the clinic's interface, via a digital cloud server. In the mobile app and on the clinic's interface, the objective weight data was presented graphically as BMI SDS. The graphic presentation of data was shown in relation to a weight loss target curve, which was equal to the treatment goal. The curve included a maximum and minimum value of change in BMI SDS and the slope of the curve was based on the degree of obesity and estimated growth over the following three months. At every three-month follow-up appointment, height and weight were measured at the clinic and a weight loss target curve for the forthcoming three months was updated, manually by researchers in study I and automatically in study II and III. For feedback and support, families and clinical staff were encouraged to correspond at least weekly via text messages, which were sent and received from the app for parents and from the clinic's interface for staff. In the feasibility study, the app was compatible on Android but not on iOS, and in the other studies the app was compatible with both operating systems. The app was not commercially available, and the technical development was improved between all studies, from basic to more advanced.

As an addition to the weight app, participants in Study I and II used a commercially available app, Lifee Spirits (Lifee AB, Norrköping, Sweden) to increase motivation for physical activity. Lifee Spirits consisted of a wrist-worn activity monitor connected to a gamified app via Bluetooth. The children were encouraged to use the activity monitor daily and to check the Lifee-app for rewards. The rewards consisted of different colored diamonds and spirits indicating how much time a participant had been physically active for one day. In Study I the Lifee-app was a separate part of the intervention. In Study II, data from the activity-monitor was transferred both to the Lifee-app and to the weight app. The reason for integrating Lifee Spirits and the weight app was to enable clinical staff to follow time in PA and to give feedback to families about this treatment aspect.

The scales for self-monitoring of weight, the weight app, the interface, and data storage were provided by Health Support Sweden AB (Stockholm, Sweden), present Evira AB. The activity

monitor and gamified app were provided by Lifee AB (Norrköping, Sweden) via Health Support Sweden AB (Stockholm, Sweden).



Figure 1. Illustration of the mHealth intervention

Components connected with solid lines were included in Study I–III, dashed line Study I and II, and dotted line Study II. PARENTS AND CHILD: Self-weighing (child) with support (by parents) on a scale that did not display weight. The activity monitor (child) transferred data (time in physical activity, PA) to the gamified activity app. PARENTS: Weight (body mass index standard deviation score, BMI SDS) was presented in relation to a weight loss target curve. The weight app displayed time spent in PA, and the app was used for communication with staff via text messages. CLINICAL STAFF: The child's weight and BMI SDS, was presented on the clinic's interface in relation to a weight loss target curve. The interface presented child's time spent in PA, and was used for communication with parents, via text messages.

3.1.7 Standard treatment and mHealth integrated treatment

The control groups in Study I–III received standard treatment. In Study I and II, the intervention group also received standard treatment in addition to the mHealth approach. Standard behavioral treatment is aiming to reduce degree of obesity by improving dietary habits and increasing PA in accordance with the Nordic recommendations (159). Standard treatment contained no other treatment components, e.g., pharmacological treatment. Since each family has different needs of support, standard treatment may be delivered somewhat differently.

In Study III, the intervention group received the mHealth approach integrated in the behavioral obesity treatment. In addition to the main components of standard treatment, i.e., information about healthy eating and PA, behavioral treatment in the intervention group was primarily focused on encouraging parents to be updated about the treatment outcome and to be in charge of the treatment. The approach included discussions between staff and parents about conflicts at home regarding food and eating habits, but specific advice was avoided. Parents, and in some

cases adolescents, were encouraged to use the weight loss target curve as a guidance regarding if additional alterations of eating habits were necessary.

In Study I and II, all participants had follow-up appointments at the clinic at least every third month. The same frequency of appointments applied to the intervention group in Study III, whereas the frequency of appointments in the control group was not known.

3.1.8 The Swedish Childhood Obesity Treatment Register (BORIS)

BORIS (www.e-BORIS.se) is a national quality register, established in 2005, for children and adolescents in obesity treatment (181). Its primary aim is quality assessment and long-term evaluation of pediatric obesity treatment in Sweden; both locally and nationally. BORIS is available for clinics providing obesity treatment, and all clinics using BORIS are obliged to provide parents and children with verbal and written information about data collection. BORIS include an opt-out approval, i.e., if parents do not disapprove, treatment data is registered in BORIS by clinical or administrative staff at each clinic. Based on data from the register, each clinic has the possibility to improve and assure good quality of care for the individual patient and for all patients at the clinic. Further, BORIS is an important source for research within the field.

3.2 MEASUREMENTS

3.2.1 Anthropometry and weight outcomes

In Study I and II weight and height were measured by staff at each clinic and documented in the case report forms. For the intervention group in Study III and all participants in Study V, height and weight were measured by staff at Martina Children's Hospital and thereafter registered in BORIS, and all data was verified towards data in the medical charts. For the control group in Study III height and weight were measured and registered in BORIS by staff at the 59 different clinics the participants belonged to. BORIS is a quality register and validation of underlying data are conducted systematically. In Study IV, height and weight were measured by staff at the National Childhood Obesity Center and data was registered in the medical charts.

Calculation of BMI SDS (1) were conducted for all studies in the thesis. Weight outcomes were presented as change in BMI SDS, number of participants in obesity remission, percentage of participants with a clinically relevant treatment result, or participants with and without a decrease of BMI SDS.

3.2.2 mHealth usage and questionnaires

Usage of the mHealth intervention primarily includes frequency of self-weighing (Study I–III). Additionally, message frequency, use of activity monitor, and log-in frequency to the clinic's interface were analyzed in Study I and II. Self-weighing and message frequency were based on objective data registered on the clinic's interface, and logging into the clinic's interface was self-reported from staff. Usage of the activity monitor was evaluated with questionnaires.

In Study I and II all parents, in both the control- and intervention group, were asked to answer web-based questionnaires about the treatment experience. Additionally, parents in the intervention group and the involved staff answered questions about their experience from using the mHealth intervention. The questionnaires were specifically compiled for Study I and II and mostly contained closed ended questions. In Study I responses from questionnaires at six months were included in the analysis. In Study II, to evaluate experience of the mHealth intervention, the intervention group and staff's responses from questionnaires at three, six, and twelve months were included in the analysis.

3.2.3 Recruitment, attrition, and working time for clinical staff

The recruitment process and required working time for the clinical staff (intervention vs control) were analyzed in Study I and II. Attrition was presented in Study I–III. All data were based on clinical staff's documentation. In Study II, the process evaluation, all aspects were analyzed on a deeper level.

3.2.4 Cardiorespiratory fitness

In Study IV and V, CRF was measured by the Åstrand-Rhyming submaximal cycle ergometer test where estimation of VO_{2max} is based on HR, work load (106), age, and sex (107). The test lasts for six minutes on a submaximal workload and VO_{2max} was estimated and expressed in absolute terms (L/min) and relative to BM (mL/kg/min). For children with normal weight, the validity of the Åstrand-Rhyming test is similar to other indirect tests (219), but the test has not been validated for children with obesity. Nevertheless, indirect tests have several advantages and for children with obesity cycle tests enable assessment of CRF in those experiencing pain when walking or running.

3.2.5 BORIS data

Additional to height and weight data from BORIS, used in Study III and V, data on blood pressure and biochemical markers in Study V came from BORIS. BP was measured at the first appointment to a pediatrician at Martina Children's Hospital and blood samples were collected at the patient's local health care center after nightly fast. All blood sample analyses were conducted by Swedish laboratories with official authorization.

3.3 STATISTICAL ANALYSES

Statistical methods used in this thesis are summarized in Table 1. In all studies descriptive data are presented with mean and standard deviation (SD) or with median and interquartile range (IQR) where appropriate. To check variables for normality of distribution a combination of the following approaches was used; visual inspection of histogram and boxplots, Kolmogorov Smirnov- or Shapiro Wilk test, and inspection of skewness. Categorical variables are presented with frequencies and/or percentages. Mean comparisons are presented with mean (SD) or with mean and 95% confidence interval (95% CI) For linear regressions, unstandardized beta-values (95% CI) are presented.

Table 1. Statistical methods used in each study

	Study I	Study II	Study III	Study IV	Study V
Descriptive statistics	х	х	х	х	х
Student's t-test	х		х	x	х
Mann Whitney U-test	х	x			х
Chi-square test	х				х
Fisher's exact test	х				
Analysis of variance (ANOVA)					х
Repeated measures ANOVA	х				
Analysis of covariance (ANCOVA)					х
Linear regression			х	x	х
NPT analysis		х			

In study I, missing data on BMI SDS at three and six months were imputed with the last observation carried forward (LOCF) method. In study III, missing data on BMI SDS at one year follow-up were handled with multiple imputation with the predictive mean matching (PMM) method.

To explore secular trends for CRF (Study IV), linear regressions were stratified by sex and adjusted for age, height, and BMI SDS. To explore associations between CRF and cardiometabolic risk factors (Study V), linear regressions were conducted, adjusted for age, height, sex, and BMI SDS. Further, participants were categorized into three CRF levels based on the reference values presented in Study IV. If significant group differences remained after post-hoc analysis, one-way analysis of covariance (ANCOVA), adjusted for BMI SDS, was conducted for continuous variables. Logarithmic transformation of variables was applied when needed to meet the assumptions of linear regression.

Data were analyzed using SPSS (version 25, 26, and 28, IBM SPSS Armonk, NY, USA), STATA (version 16 (Stata College Station, TX, USA), and SAS Statistical software (version 9.4, SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC, USA). In all studies, a *P*-value >.05 was considered as statistically significant.

3.4 ETHICAL APPROVAL

All studies were approved by the regional ethics committee in Stockholm (Study I, 2017/667-31/5; Study II, 2018/478-31/2, amendment 2018/1759-32; Study III & V, 2018/1413-31; Study V, 2013/2273-32).

3.4.1 Ethical considerations

Considering that children grow taller, using weight outcomes in exact terms, e.g., the weight in kg, is not a representative measure for a child's change in degree of obesity. This may be a reason to why self-weighing is not usually implemented as a part of pediatric obesity interventions. Hence, potential negative psychological effects from self-weighing have not been evaluated in small children. It has recently been suggested that weight-focused public health interventions for children may be harmful (220). Therefore, it is not unlikely that some parents are concerned that self-weighing could cause psychological damage for their child. However, systematic reviews including adults and young adults have not found a connection between self-monitoring of weight and negative psychological effects (221, 222). On the contrary, self-weighing in weight management interventions is related to BMI reduction, improved body related attitudes, and increased health related quality of life (223, 224). Therefore, it is likely that self-monitoring of weight, or preferably weight in relation to growth, is an important component of pediatric obesity treatment. Further, several systematic reviews have found that pediatric obesity treatment is associated with a decreased risk of eating disorders and symptoms (177-179).

3.5 CONFLICTS OF INTERESTS

The evaluated mHealth intervention (Study I–III) was developed by Health Support Sweden AB (current Evira AB). Professor Claude Marcus, one of the supervisors of this thesis, is a board member and shareholder of Evira AB. In study IV and V no conflicts of interests were present.
4 RESULTS

4.1 PARTICIPANTS

Included Girls **BMI SDS** Non-Nordic Age Severe n (%) mean (SD) mean (SD) Obesity n (%) origin n (%)1 n Study I 9 (60) Intervention 15 8.4 (1.9) 3.0 (0.5) 8 (53) 8 (53) Control 13 6 (46) 9.8 (2.2) 2.8 (0.3) 5 (38) 5 (39) Study II Intervention 39 15 (39) 9.0 (2.0) 2.9 (0.4) 15 (39) Not available Control 40 22 (55) 8.8 (2.3) 2.9 (0.4) 22 (55) Not available Study III 35 (33) 11.9 (3.1) 2.8 (0.4) 38 (36) 49 (46) Intervention 107 96 (30) Not available Control 321 105 (33) 11.3 (3.1) 2.8 (0.4) Study IV 705 356 (51) 14.0 (2.3) 3.1 (0.4) 497 (71) Not available Participants Study V Participants 151 55 (36) 13.1 (1.9) 2.8 (0.3) 54 (36) 79 (61)²

Participant characteristics for all studies are presented in Table 2.

Table 2. Participants in Study I–V

¹At least one parent was born in a non-Nordic country; ²Data on ethnicity were available for 130 participants

The feasibility trial (Study I) included 28 participants, of which 15 were enrolled to the intervention group and 13 to the control group. Four staff members, at three clinics, were involved in the trial and their experiences were included in the trial evaluation. Nine parents in the intervention group and nine parents in the control group answered questionnaires at six months.

The process evaluation (Study II) included 79 participants (intervention n = 39, control n = 40) and 14 staff members from a conducted multi-center RCT. The process evaluation was partly based on data from web-based questionnaires to staff and to the intervention group. Of the staff, 14, 13, and 10 individuals answered the questionnaires at three, six, and twelve months. In the intervention group 22, 20, and 15 parents answered the questionnaires at three, six, and twelve months.

In Study III, evaluating one-year weight-outcome, 107 individuals were included in the group using the mHealth intervention. The age- and sex-matched control group from BORIS included 321 children and adolescents.

In Study IV, where reference values for CRF were presented, the cycle ergometer test was initiated in 866 individuals, of which 705 children and adolescents fulfilled the eligibility criteria and were included. Of the 161 excluded individuals, 72 children had a HR too high to estimate VO_{2max} .

Study V, where associations between cardiometabolic risk and CRF were explored, 151 children and adolescents were eligible for inclusion. A subgroup of 29 individuals had a HR too high to estimate VO_{2max} and were studied separately. Of the 122 children and adolescent

with a valid estimation of VO_{2max} , 96 participants had available blood samples and 84 individuals had available data on blood pressure.

4.2 WEIGHT OUTCOMES (STUDY I & III)

Weight outcomes, in terms of change in BMI SDS, were greater in the intervention group than the control group in both Study I and III (Figure 2). In the feasibility trial (Study I) the intervention group had a mean (95% CI) decrease in BMI SDS by -0.23 (-0.33 to -0.13) units after six months and the control group increased their BMI SDS by 0.01 (-0.1 to 0.11) units (p= .002). Further, in the intervention group 14/15 participants were treatment responders, i.e., did not increase their BMI SDS, whereas 6/13 participants in the control group responded to treatment. In Study III, the intervention group had a mean (SD) decrease in BMI SDS by -0.30 (0.39) units after one year and the control group decreased their BMI SDS by an average of -0.15 (0.28) units (p = .0002). Success rate, i.e., either obesity remission or change in BMI SDS of at least -0.25 units after one year, in the intervention group was 46.7% compared with 35.5% in the control group (p = 0.039). Linear regression, adjusted for age, sex, and degree of obesity at baseline, showed that the intervention group had a -0.16 greater decrease of BMI SDS compared with the control group (p <.001).



Figure 2. Change in BMI SDS at the end of treatment, in Study I and III Blue represents Study I and yellow represents Study II. Dashed line, intervention group; filled line control group. *P*-values derive from Student's t-test

4.3 MOBILE HEALTH USAGE (STUDY I-III)

During the first month, median (IQR) weight frequency in the intervention group was 6.4 (2.7) times per week in Study I, and 3.5 (4.0) and 6.0 (3.0) in Study II and III respectively. In Study I the weight frequency stabilized around 2.4 weights per week from month four and onwards. A similar pattern was seen in Study III with a stabilization of around 3.5 weights per week from month five. In Study II weight frequency decreased over time with a weight frequency below one time per week from month nine and forward (Figure 3).



Figure 3. Weekly weight frequency (median) for the intervention groups in Study I-III

In Study I and II, messages sent from parents to staff varied widely. Parents who had the highest frequency sent approximately one message to staff every other week. Parents with the lowest frequency did not send any messages in Study I, and three messages in Study II. In both studies parents received more messages from the staff than they wrote.

All staff in Study I (n = 4) reported that they used the clinic's interface once a week. In Study II, based on staff responding to questionnaires at three (n = 14), six (n = 13), and twelve (n = 10) months, 20–30% used the clinic's interface less than once a week.

4.3.1 Parent experience of mHealth usage (Study I & II)

In Study I, all (n = 9) but one parent reported that the mHealth intervention helped them reach the treatment goal. Six of nine parents reported that they were helped from the weight loss target curve and that they were satisfied with feedback from staff. More than 80% of parents in Study I and II reported that the mHealth intervention helped them to quickly get in touch with the staff, and in Study II, all but one parent found the treatment goal to be clear. When asked about experience from using the weight loss target curve at three-, six- and twelve months, one parent (at each time point) did not understand the weight loss target curves.

Most parents, in Study I and II, were positive or neutral about self-monitoring of their child's weight. One parent in Study I reported difficulties with self-weighing at six months follow-up. In Study II, parents responding that self-weighing was hard or very hard increased from 5% at three months to 27% at twelve months.

At six months follow-up around 50% of the parents had the impression that the activity monitor was fun to use for their child (Study I and II). At twelve months (Study II), 60% reported that the activity monitor had not been used during the last three months.

Technical issues with the mHealth intervention were present in both Study I and II. In Study II, technical problems were considered as major barriers for mHealth usage. The issues partly included that the activity monitor stopped working, had poor battery life, problems with data

transfer from the activity monitor and from the scale to the weight app, and a need of logging in and out again to make the weight app work. In addition, the activity monitor's wrist band had poor quality and was uncomfortable.

4.3.2 Staff experience of mHealth usage (Study I & II)

Staff mainly used the message function for feedback on weight results and reminders about using the scale and activity monitor, and at least 75% of the staff reported that the mHealth intervention made it easier to keep track of participants weight change (Study I and II). Some staff in both studies found that the weight loss target curves, illustrating the treatment goal, were difficult to understand. In Study I, all staff reported that the mHealth intervention had a clear treatment goal, whereas half of the staff in Study II thought that the treatment goal was clear.

Staff reported technical issues in both studies. In Study II, technical issues negatively affected the staff's engagement towards using the clinic's interface. The staff found that the technical problems, previously reported, resulted in frustration and additional time costs. In both Study I and II the intervention groups required more working time from the staff compared with the control group.

In the process evaluation (Study II), it was found that a barrier for *collective action*, i.e., the work staff do to make the interventions become a natural part of the clinical environment, was that we do not know how the staff used the clinic's interface during the consultations. This was a deliberate decision to not interfere with each clinic's routine of obesity treatment, however, it turned out to be a limitation of the study design negatively affecting collective action.

4.4 RECRUITMENT AND ATTRITION (STUDY I-III)

In Study I, 40 participants were offered study participation, of which 28 individuals accepted. Reasons for not participating were skepticism towards self-weighing and lack of motivation. In Study II, 120 children were asked to participate in the trial, of which 82 accepted. Three individuals were enrolled in the trial despite not having obesity and were therefore not included in the analyses. Reasons for declining participation were travel plans during the summer; consent from only one parent; not interested in additional support; the trial sounded like too much work; skepticism towards self-weighing; parents or child not interested; and parent felt that the child was too young for participation. In Study III, 109 children and adolescents fulfilled the eligibility criteria, of which 107 individuals accepted to use the mHealth intervention and were included in the study.

In Study II, recruitment resulted in that 66% of the needed number according to the power calculation, were enrolled in the trial. Based on the NPT analysis, it was found that the recruitment process was overly complex and time consuming. The staff were required to use two digital systems, i.e., the medical records system and BORIS, to ensure that the eligibility criterion of obesity treatment the last 9 to 15 months with a change in BMI SDS ≤ 0.25 units was fulfilled. Staff were not used to BMI SDS as an outcome measure which further increased

the complexity of the inclusion criterion. In addition, trial enrollment before and during the summer affected recruitment negatively.

In Study I, three participants were lost to follow-up (intervention n = 2, control n = 1). Attrition rate in Study II was 44% in the intervention group and 20% in the control group. In the third Study 36% using the mHealth intervention and 46% receiving standard treatment were lost to follow-up. Reasons for attrition in Study I and II are presented in Table 3.

In Study III, attrition in the intervention group was more likely for participants >12 years old (p = .015), which was not seen in the control group (p = .55) Participants lost-to follow up in the intervention- or the control group, did not differ significantly regarding sex or degree of obesity at baseline, from those remaining in the trial.

	Study	I	Study II		
	Intervention	Control	Intervention	Control	
	n = 15	n = 13	n = 39	n = 40	
Not known		n = 1	n = 4	n = 6	
Technical issues	n = 1		n = 4		
Lack of motivation			n = 2		
Stressful using scale			n = 2		
Disliking scale/activity monitor			n = 3		
Problems with mobile phone			n = 1		
Preferred intervention				n = 1	
Want no further treatment				n = 1	
Other reasons	n = 1		n = 1		
Total attrition	n = 2	n = 1	n = 17	n = 8	

Table 3. Reasons for attrition

4.5 CARDIORESPIRATORY FITNESS

In Study IV obesity specific reference values for CRF in children and adolescents were presented stratified for sex and age group. The average of absolute VO_{2max} (L/min) increased with age and relative VO_{2max} decreased with age, in both boys and girls. During the years of data collection (1999–2013) CRF had decreased significantly in both boys and girls (p < .001), with a mean (95% CI) decline in absolute VO_{2max} by -0.024 L/min (95% CI -0.037 to -0.012) in girls, and -0.044 L/min (95% CI -0.058 to -0.030) in boys per year. Relative VO_{2max} had decreased by -0.29 mL/kg/min (95% CI -0.42 to -0.15) in girls and with -0.43 mL/kg/min (95% CI -0.57 to -0.29) in boys per year. BMI SDS had not increased during these years.

In Study V, linear regression showed that Log₁₀ high-sensitivity c-reactive protein (hs-CRP) was inversely associated with CRF when adjusted for BMI SDS (Log₁₀ absolute VO_{2max} $\beta = -1.254$ (95%CI -2.443 to -.064), p = 039; Log₁₀ relative VO_{2max} $\beta = -1.350$ (95% CI -2.502 to -.197) p = .022. Inverse associations between relative VO_{2max} and fasting insulin and HOMA-IR did not remain significant when adjusted for BMI SDS. No significant associations were found for the other cardiometabolic risk variables. Differences in biomarkers and blood pressure were compared between three different groups of CRF (relative VO_{2max}) based on the reference values presented in Study IV (Table 4a-b). Low-grade inflammation increased for

each group with lower relative VO_{2max}, with a significant difference between the lowest and highest groups of relative VO_{2max} (63% vs 22%, p = .003). When adjusted for BMI SDS by analysis of covariance (ANCOVA), hs-CRP was significantly higher in the group with the lowest compared to the highest CRF levels (p = .026). Although low HDL cholesterol was most common in the middle group of relative VO_{2max} (>25th to \leq 50th percentile), post-hoc analysis showed no significant differences between the three groups. Blood pressure SDS increased for every decrease in CRF level, and post-hoc test showed a close to significant difference in systolic blood pressure SDS between the highest and lowest levels of relative VO_{2max} (p = .05). The group with lowest relative VO_{2max} had higher BMI SDS and a higher proportion of severe obesity. No significant group differences were found for absolute VO_{2max} and biomarkers, blood pressure, or BMI SDS.

The 19% (Study V) with a HR too high to estimate CRF were significantly younger than the other participants (mean (SD) age of 11.6(1.7) vs. 13.5(1.8), (p < .001) and had a higher median (IQR) HDL cholesterol (1.3 (0.3) vs. 1.2(0.3), p = .005).

Variables	≤25th percentile, n = 2	27–29	>25th to ≤50th percentile,	n = 20–22	>50th percentile, n = 4	4–45	P Value ¹
Girls, n (%)	8 (27.6)		10 (45.5)		15 (33.3)		.404
Age (years), mean (SD) [min-max]	13.6 (1.6) [10.3–16.1]	n = 29	13.6 (2.0) [10.6–17.1]	n = 22	13.4 (1.8) [9.4–16.6]	n = 45	.774
BMI SDS, mean (SD) [min–max]	2.98 (0.28) [2.35–3.43] ^{a,b}	n = 29	2.77 (0.28) [2.33–3.46] ^a	n = 22	2.63 (0.26) [2.19–3.11] ^b	n = 45	<.001
Severe obesity, n (%)	17 (58.6) ^b	n = 29	6 (27.3)	n = 22	8 (17.8) ^b	n = 45	.001
hs-CRP (mg/L), median (IQR) [min-max]	4.0 (3.0) [0.7–9.9] ^b	n = 27	2.5 (4.3) [0.2–9.9]	n = 20	1.5 (2.3) [0.2–10.0] ^b	n = 45	.001
LGI, n (%)	17 (63.0) ^b		8 (40.0)		10 (22.2)		.003
ALT (μkat/L), median (IQR) [min–max]	0.42 (0.49) [0.17–2.64]	n = 28	0.37 (0.43) [0.21–2.31]	n = 22	0.42 (0.34) [0.16–2.93]	n = 44	.761
Elevated ALT, n (%)	13 (46.4)		9 (40.9)		21 (47.7)		.868
HDL (mmol/L), median (IQR) [min-max]	1.1 (0.3) [0.7–1.9]	n = 29	1.0 (0.5) [0.7–1.7]	n = 21	1.2 (0.3) [0.7–1.6]	n = 45	.824
Low HDL, n (%)	6 (20.7)		9 (42.9) ²		7 (15.6) ²		.046
LDL (mmol/L), mean (SD) [min-max]	2.5 (0.7) [1.0–4.3]	n = 29	2.6 (0.9) [1.3–4.4]	n = 21	2.5 (0.8) [1.1–4.9]	n = 45	.703
Elevated LDL, n (%)	7 (24.1)		8 (38.1)		14 (31.1)		.568
Total cholesterol (mmol/L), mean (SD) [min–max]	4.0 (0.6) [2.7–5.5]	n = 29	4.1 (0.8) [3.0–5.6]	n = 21	4.1 (0.8) [2.1–5.9]	n = 45	.719
Elevated total cholesterol, n (%)	9 (31.0)		8 (38.1)		14(31.1)		.833
Triglycerides (mmol/L), median (IQR) [min-max]	1.2 (0.9) [0.5–2.8]	n = 29	0.9 (0.5) [0.5–2.3]	n = 21	0.9 (0.6) [0.4–3.4]	n = 45	.350
Elevated triglycerides, n (%)	17 (58.6)		9 (42.9)		21 (46.7)		.477
Glucose (mmol/L), mean (SD) [min-max]	5.5 (0.3) [5.0–6.1]	n = 29	5.5 (0.4) [4.9–6.1]	n = 21	5.4 (0.4) [4.1–6.3]	n = 45	.351
IFG, n (%)	1 (3.4)		3 (14.3)		2 (4.4)		NA
Insulin (μU/L), median (IQR) [min–max]	24 (22) [11–98]	n = 29	22 (19) [6–99]	n = 22	21 (11) [9–54]	n = 45	.170
HOMA-IR, median (IQR) [min-max]	6.24 (6.35) [2.44–24.83]	n = 29	4.99 (5.44) [1.29–25.48]	n = 21	4.80 (2.55) [2.04–14.16]	n = 45	.159
HbA1c, mean (SD) [min–max]	36 (3) [31–44]	n = 29	35 (3) [30–41]	n = 22	35 (3) [27–41]	n = 45	.119

Table 2a. Group comparisons between CRF levels (mL/kg/min) in participants with available blood samples (n = 96)

Abbreviations: ALT, alanine aminotransferase; HDL, high density lipoprotein; LDL, low density lipoprotein; IFG, impaired fasting glucose; HOMA-IR, homeostasis model assessment of insulin resistance; HbA1c, glycated hemoglobin A1c; hs-CRP, high-sensitive C-reactive protein; LGI, low-grade inflammation; BMI SDS, body mass index standard deviation score. Percentile groups are based on reference values for cardiorespiratory fitness in children with obesity (Johansson et al. 2020). *P*-values derive from one-way ANOVA, the Kruskal Wallis test, or the Chi square test, where appropriate. NA indicates that groups were too small for comparison. *P*-values <.05 was considered as statistically significant (marked with bold). ¹*P*-values for differences between the three groups are shown in the table. If significant, post-hoc analysis was performed adjusted with the Bonferroni or Tukey's method. ²*p* = .06 ^a Significant difference between the groups of *≤25th percentile* and *>25th to ≤50th percentile*; ^b Significant difference between the groups of *≤25th percentile* and *>50th percentile*

Variables	≤25th percentile, n = 30	>25th to ≤50th percentile, n = 22	>50th percentile, n = 32	P Value ¹
Girls, n (%)	9 (30.0)	12 (54.5)	10 (31.3)	.186
Age (years), mean (SD) [min–max]	13.7 (1.5) [10.5–16.7]	13.8 (1.9) [10.2–17.1]	13.5 (1.5) [9.9–16.0]	.836
BMI SDS, mean (SD) [min–max]	3.10 (0.27) [2.42–3.54] ^{a,b}	2.86 (0.30) [2.33–3.46] ^{a,c}	2.64 (0.26) [2.19–3.11] ^{b,c}	<.001
Severe obesity, n (%)	23 (76.7) ^b	10 (45.5)	6 (18.8) ^b	<.001
SBP SDS, mean (SD) [min–max]	0.32 (0.79) [-1.29–1.89] ²	0.28 (1.06) [-1.66–2.55]	-0.22 (0.85) [-2.11–1.29] ²	.036
DBP SDS, median (IQR) [min–max]	1.12 (1.43) [-0.47–3.00]	0.82 (0.68) [-0.33—3.44]	0.51 (0.73) [-0.54–2.11]	.133
Hypertension, n (%)	10 (33.3)	4 (18.2)	2 (6.3)	NA

Table 2b. Group comparisons between CRF levels (mL/kg/min) in participants with measured blood pressure (n = 84)

Abbreviations: SBP SDS, systolic blood pressure standard deviation score; DBP SDS, diastolic blood pressure standard deviation score; BMI SDS, body mass index standard deviation score. Percentile groups are based on reference values for cardiorespiratory fitness in children with obesity (Johansson et al. 2020). *P*-values derive from one-way ANOVA, the Kruskal Wallis test, or the Chi square test, where appropriate. NA indicates that groups were too small for comparison. *P*-values <.05 was considered as statistically significant (marked with bold). ¹*P*-values for differences between the three groups are shown in the table. If significant, post-hoc analysis was performed adjusted with the Bonferroni or Tukey's method. ²*p* = .05.

^a Significant difference between the groups of <25th percentile and >25th to <50th percentile;

^b Significant difference between the groups of ≤25th percentile and >50th percentile;

^c Significant difference between the groups of >25th to <50th percentile and >50th percentile

5 DISCUSSION

5.1 MAIN FINDINGS

The feasibility trial (Study I) showed that parents and staff had an overall positive experience from using the mHealth intervention and that the mHealth approach was found accessible. The study indicated better treatment outcomes, in terms of change in BMI SDS, in the intervention-than the control group, which was further confirmed in the pragmatic clinical trial (Study III). In contrast, the multi-center RCT was hampered by recruitment issues, high attrition, and extensive technical problems. The process evaluation (Study II) showed that flaws with both the study design and several aspects of the mHealth intervention contributed to the experienced problems.

Reference values for CRF in children and adolescents with obesity were compiled in Study IV. Further, a small but significant decrease of CRF was found in boys and girls with obesity from 1999 to 2013. However, an increase in BMI SDS during the same years was not seen. In Study V, children and adolescents with a relative VO_{2max} below the 25th percentile (according to the reference values in Study IV), had higher values of inflammation compared with participants with a CRF above the 50th percentile. These findings were independent of BMI SDS.

5.2 TREATMENT EFFECT

Although behavioral treatment can lower degree of obesity in children, the mean change of BMI SDS has not been clinically relevant in several studies (181, 225, 226). In children with overweight or obesity, mHealth interventions have shown short-term effectiveness on weight outcomes (201, 202). In a systematic review and meta-analysis by Azevedo et al. (201), mHealth interventions were more effective in reducing BMI SDS compared with control groups consisting of standard treatment, wait-list, or other interventions. However, the reduction of BMI SDS (mean -.063 units) was far from clinically relevant, and most studies included were feasibility- or pilot trials. Although results from the feasibility trial (Study I) in this thesis showed promising results on change in BMI SDS, the study population was far too small to study effectiveness. However, based on the results of the pragmatic clinical trial (Study III) it was found that the mHealth intervention-group had better treatment outcomes compared with those receiving standard treatment. Most importantly, the mHealth intervention provided results of clinical relevance. As far as I am aware, no other mHealth studies with a follow-up of at least one year have shown similar results (204-206, 227), instead, the effectiveness of the intervention in Study III is similar to results received from pharmacotherapy with Liraglutide (152). Self-monitoring of weight and digital communication with staff, are mHealth features that may have contributed to the strong treatment results (Study III). In contrast to weight measurements presented in exact terms, e.g., in kg, the daily weight measurements graphically presented as BMI SDS, enabled instant feedback to the families about treatment results. This is similar to self-monitoring of weight in adults, which is related to weight loss (172, 173). Further, digital communication meant frequent and flexible support from staff to families, factors known to be of importance in pediatric obesity treatment (158, 228). However, to

understand which feature of the digital treatment approach that is most effective in reducing BMI SDS, a different study design is needed.

5.3 CHALLENGES IN PEDIATRIC OBESITY TRIALS

5.3.1 Recruitment

In accordance with our experience from Study II, recruitment issues in clinical RCTs are frequently reported—as many as half of the trials evaluated regarding recruitment frequency do not manage to reach their recruitment target (229-232). This is a severe issue since underpowered trials risk not to detect an actual effectiveness, or absence of effectiveness, of an intervention. Extending the recruitment time has not been found to improve recruitment (229, 230). Rather than the time aspect, recruitment issues are most likely related to other factors. In adults, according to McDonald et al (229) the most frequent recruitment problem was that researchers and clinical staff overestimated the number of potential study participants. Other suggested problems are related to restrictive eligibility criteria and administrative requirements in the study protocols (231, 232). Recently, Clayton et al. (233) published a systematic review on recruitment barriers and facilitators of 26 pediatric trials focused on obesity-, nutrition-, and physical activity interventions. The authors found that the main barrier for trial participation according to parents was time constraint related to work, leisure activities, travel time to the clinic, and that the trial required extensive parental involvement. In addition, parents and children reported that the trial information and/or consent was difficult to understand. These findings indicate that researchers should strive to limit time costs for families and to create clear and concise trial information when designing trials. Another recruitment strategy, suggested by Sully et al. (230), is to plan studies with higher power. In their systematic review of 73 multi-center randomized trials, trials planned with 90% power reached recruitment target to a greater proportion than trials planned with 80% power. Therefore, trials could be planned with higher power, and if anticipated enrollment is not reached, 80% power might still be possible. Another option to address power issues is to use an adaptive trial design that allows for evaluation of trial progress and reassessment of sample size based on pre-specified interim analyses (234, 235).

5.3.2 Study design

The gold standard for evaluating new interventions is randomized controlled trials (236). Randomization should result in an even distribution of potential confounders in the intervention- and the control arm of the trial, and if well designed, an RCT can establish the causal relationship between the intervention and the outcome. However, the methodological issues with RCTs are greater in some fields than others. Interventions including behavior changes do not enable blinding of participants, which increases the risk of bias. Performance bias, i.e., unintended differences between the groups, have been seen in open label trials (237, 238). In a qualitative study on performance bias in an RCT with a weight loss intervention, it was found that disappointment after being enrolled in the control group resulted in both being more and less motivated to behavior change, therefore, disappointment is a potential source of

bias (237). In the feasibility trial (Study I) the control group had poorer treatment outcomes compared to the national Swedish average (181) and it is possible that these findings were related to performance bias. Further, it is likely that performance bias also was present in Study II, where participants in the intervention group initially may have been more content with their allocation. Because of technical issues with the mHealth intervention disappointment was evident, resulting in high attrition. Since the control group in Study III was randomized from BORIS, performance bias was not an issue. Further, the control group had results similar to the Swedish average for behavioral treatment (181).

In addition to problems with performance bias, RCTs have been criticized for lacking external validity. Since participants in RCTs can be based on narrow eligibility criteria, the research finding might not be representative for the general patient group (239). On the contrary, pragmatic trials should include participants more like the general patient group and the trial procedures should be similar to the clinical setting. Therefore, pragmatic trials have been suggested to provide real-world effectiveness of an intervention (217). Although pragmatic trials may have higher external validity, the internal validity is lower compared with welldesigned RCTs. On the other hand, pragmatic trials are less expensive and likely to have less recruitment issues compared with RCTs (217). Conducting a well-designed RCT for a behavioral obesity intervention is difficult. Not only because of the need of an open trial, but also regarding what treatment the control group should receive. Children with obesity need treatment instantly and therefore a wait-list control group would not be ethical. Since it is not possible to compare the intervention against placebo, the evaluation of the intervention effect may be less precise. However, considering that all groups in Study I-III in this thesis received standard treatment, this problem is present in both RCTs and in pragmatic trials. In my opinion, it is not certain that an RCT always is the better option for evaluating pediatric obesity interventions, nevertheless, it is evident that both study designs have their strengths and limitations.

5.3.3 Attrition

High attrition is a well-known problem in pediatric obesity interventions and treatment (188, 225, 240). Logistic barriers, including travel time to the clinic and absence from school and work, has been suggested as the primary reason for attrition (228, 241, 242). Not being satisfied has also been presented as a reason for discontinuing treatment or trial participation (243). Attrition from pediatric obesity management is higher compared with other pediatric chronic diseases (244, 245). The reason for this is to my knowledge not known. However, from my personal clinical experience, the high attrition rate may be related to the components included in the treatment. Behavior changes are hard work. Since lifestyle changes are the foundation of pediatric obesity treatment, hard work is required from primarily parents but also from the child/adolescent to achieve satisfying treatment results. In other patient groups, where pharmacotherapy or other potent interventions are available, it may be less stressful to attend clinic appointments, even if the treatment results are not satisfying. For parents and children involved in pediatric obesity management, the health care is striving to support and guide the

family to change their lifestyle. However, the time-costly task and frustration from changing habits connected with diet and physical activity, is in the end performed solely by the family. Additionally, if the health care cannot provide high treatment intensity, families will not get adequate support in this difficult task. With this is mind, it is not hard to understand that most families are not receptive to change all the time. Other life events, such as changing schools, moving, or illness, will most likely decrease the energy needed to follow through with behavior changes. Nevertheless, strategies to increase retention are of great importance. Suggestions, shown to be successful for adults, include multi-component treatment approaches, self-monitoring, and financial incentives (246). In a recent systematic review of six pediatric obesity trials, results from retention strategies, including orientational sessions, motivational interviewing, and text messages, were inconclusive (247). Hence, how to successfully reduce attrition in pediatric obesity management is uncertain. Nevertheless, mHealth interventions have the potential to decrease logistic barriers and reduce attrition (200, 228, 241).

5.3.4 The clinical context

According to gained knowledge from Study I–III and from yearly reports from the National quality register BORIS, the conditions for pediatric obesity treatment in Sweden have local and regional variations. In some regions obesity treatment is only available for children with severe comorbidities. Further, some clinics have interprofessional obesity teams while the treatment at other clinics is mainly conducted by a nurse with yearly follow-up appointments to a pediatrician. In many Swedish regions 'rehabilitation staff', e.g., dieticians and physiotherapists, belong to a different organizational level than the pediatric clinics. Therefore, it may be more complex to actively share professional knowledge and to enable teamwork between staff involved in a child's obesity treatment. Understanding the clinical context is important when implementing a new treatment in practice or when conducting clinical trials (216). When conducting multi-center trials there are several clinical contexts that may be of different nature, as seen in Study II in this thesis. Therefore, reflecting about clinical differences is important when designing and conducting multi-center trials.

5.4 MOBILE HEALTH-CHALLENGES AND OPPORTUNITIES

Study II in this thesis was hampered by extensive technical issues; parents and staff experienced problems with the weight app but the problems with the activity monitor were even greater. Similar difficulties have been reported by others (248-250). In a study by Browne et al. (249), including two digital components—one activity monitor and one app for tracking diet, technical issues were evident. It is likely that the level of complexity for evaluating an mHealth intervention increase when two different mHealth tools are involved in the intervention. Therefore, it may be a better option to focus on one digital component, at least if both tools have limited technical maturity.

The high individual variability of weight outcomes in adults, from using mHealth interventions, are suggested as partly related to engagement (251). Engagement for digital behavioral change interventions has been defined as "the extent (e.g., amount, frequency, duration, depth) of usage

and a subjective experience characterized by attention, interest and affect"(252). Examples of objective measures on engagement are tracking of using patterns, such as number of logins and content used. For subjective measures, questionnaires or qualitative data collection have been used (252). In a large retrospective study on more than 11 000 adults using an mHealth intervention for behavior change, engagement, in terms of higher mHealth usage, was significantly associated with greater weight loss (253). Further, engagement among health care staff is most likely central when introducing new treatment approaches, and engagement is suggested to increase when staff find the intervention meaningful for the patient group and for the staff's self-development. Additionally, staff's engagement seems positively influenced by support from the leadership and from coworkers (252, 254). As found in our process evaluation (Study II) technical issues were barriers for mHealth engagement among both participants (248) and staff (254). Therefore, actions to improve technical stability are vital. In both Study I and III, technical problems were not an issue and the mHealth usage in these studies were higher.

Mobile Health interventions have the possibility to provide treatment without requiring faceto-face appointments, which has been suggested as time saving for both families and staff (194). The COVID-19 pandemic has increased the need for digital interventions, which can deliver health care with social distancing (193). Further, pediatric obesity and sedentary behavior in children are thought to have increased during the pandemic (255, 256). Therefore, digital health in pediatric obesity treatment may be even more important to increase treatment reach compared to before COVID-19. Additionally, mHealth interventions have the potential to improve the quality of monitored health data. However, concerns have been raised regarding the possibility that mHealth would increase already existing health disparities, since not everyone have access to the internet and mobile phones. Therefore, these potential barriers should be thought of already when designing an mHealth tool (257).

A possible opportunity with the mHealth intervention evaluated in this thesis, is the possibility to provide instant feedback on change in BMI SDS to families and staff. This feedback combined with the weight loss target curve may facilitate the families' understanding of the treatment results. Further, the graphically presented data may improve the communication between staff and parents about treatment results.

5.5 POTENTIAL HARM OF TREATMENT

Adolescents with obesity have a higher risk of developing eating disorders, depression, and anxiety (22, 78, 79). Nevertheless, recent meta-analyses have shown that pediatric obesity treatment is not associated with an increased risk for the mentioned conditions. In fact, treatment seems to reduce the risk for ED, depression, and anxiety (177, 258). However, clinical staff needs to be aware of the increased prevalence and should monitor symptoms related to these conditions. With that said, assessing ED and symptoms in adolescents with obesity is difficult. ED risk instruments can include questions about staying away from food with high sugar content as well as other questions regarding parts that are included in all type

of behavioral obesity treatment (259). Therefore, a need of new tools for assessing ED risk in the pediatric obesity population have been requested (177). Further, weight can be a sensitive matter for families (260), and staff have reported difficulties to address the topic with parents and children (261). Based on this, it is evident that staff involved in pediatric obesity treatment need adequate training and support to provide the best care for this group of patients. According to Cardel et al. (262), there is an existing false dichotomy between treatment of obesity and ED. Therefore, it is important that researchers and staff stand united so that families involved in pediatric obesity treatment feel safe. For the patient's sake, it is further important that, when necessary, staff treating obesity collaborate with staff treating depression, anxiety, and ED.

5.6 CARDIORESPIRATORY FITNESS AND SECULAR TRENDS

Although a small study sample (per year) was included in the analysis for secular trends in Study IV, our findings, showing that CRF has decreased among Swedish children with obesity, are in line with several large studies around the world (137, 140, 141, 263). As presented by Tomkinson et al. (140), our findings show a larger decline of CRF in boys than in girls. By several authors, the decline in CRF is suggested to be related to the global increase in pediatric obesity (139-141, 263). Nevertheless, both Venckunas et al. (137) and Tambalis et al. (263) found that the decline of CRF was independent of BMI, indicating that also other factors contributed to the negative secular trend. Earlier maturation during the last decades has been suggested as a possible factor (140), which at least could explain the decline in VO_{2max} relative to body weight, since it is known that CRF in relation to body weight is associated with maturation (102). Further, it is known that CRF is affected by genetic factors (264); therefore, epigenetic changes during the last decades has been another suggestion (139). Additionally, one of the most frequently suggested causes for the decrease in CRF is a potential decline in physical activity among children globally (137, 139-141, 263). However, there is no clear indications that PA has decreased during the last decades, which may be related to difficulties in receiving accurate measures of PA and that the sampling methodology has differed over time (265). Hence, a decline in PA may be a part of the explanation to why CRF has decreased.

5.7 REFERENCE VALUES AND RESPONSIVENESS TO EXERCISE

Several reference values for physical fitness, including CRF, have been presented (143-145) aimed to use for screening of health and fitness. Since children with obesity generally have a lower CRF (mL/kg/min) compared with their normal weight peers (149, 150, 263), the researchers involved in Study IV saw a need of developing reference values specifically complied for children with obesity—mainly aimed to improve and facilitate the clinical interpretation of current CRF levels. Although these reference values are based on crosssectional data, a future area of use could be to detect individual changes in CRF over time. For adults, it is known that exercise can increase CRF and that vigorous-intensity PA is most effective (266). However, there are large individual differences in responsiveness to exercise training (114). For children, the relationship has not been as widely studied. Nevertheless, studies in children with obesity have found that high-intensity interval training improved CRF more than moderate-intensity continuous exercise (184, 267). These findings may be related to

mitochondrial adaptation and cardiac output, since improvements of both outcomes were larger from high-intensity exercise compared with moderate-intensity exercise (268, 269). Nevertheless, genetics may be involved in an individual's potential to improve CRF (270). In a systematic review and meta-analysis by Zadro et al. (271) a significant heritability influence was seen in responsiveness to changes in CRF following exercise training for monozygotic twin pairs. Findings from other studies, including both monozygotic and dizygotic twin pairs, differs somewhat. Although heritable influences were present for baseline values of CRF, genetic impact on changes in CRF following an exercise intervention could not be detected (272, 273). In a recent randomized cross-over design study, including both mono- and dizygotic twin pairs, the responsiveness to different exercise modalities (resistance training and endurance training) was evaluated. The results showed that all participants increased their strength following resistance training, and that 86% improved their CRF following endurance training. However, half of the participants either increased their CRF from resistance training or became stronger from endurance training. Only 4% did not respond at all to the exercise and in most cases non-responders from one exercise modality were responders to the other modality. Further the authors conclude that the responsiveness to training modalities were primarily related to environmental factors (274).

5.8 CARDIORESPIRATORY FITNESS AND CARDIOMETABOLIC RISK

In study V, children with obesity who had a higher CRF had lower levels of inflammation, independent of BMI SDS. There are several studies, mainly including children with normal weight, with mixed findings regarding if this association is maintained when adjusted for adiposity (275-278). However, Agostinis-Sobrinho et al. (136) analyzed adolescents with obesity separately and found that high CRF attenuated the association between BMI and inflammation (hs-CRP), mainly among these subjects. One reason to why it is important to study children with obesity separately is the higher prevalence of low-grade inflammation in these individuals compared with normal weight children (57). LGI is involved in the pathology of atherosclerosis (66) and T2DM (279). Further, LGI seems to be contributing to the relationship between pediatric obesity and autoimmune diseases, and various types of cancers in adulthood (69). Therefore, findings on CRF and inflammatory markers (e.g., hs-CRP) may not necessarily overlap in studies combining children in all groups of weight status, compared with those analyzing children with obesity separately.

In Study V, children with the lowest CRF had the highest median values of hs-CRP; in addition, this group of children more frequently had severe obesity compared to the other CRF groups. As others have reported, adiposity is related to both CRF and to LGI (127, 136). Nevertheless, since the association between CRF and hs-CRP (Study V) was independent of BMI SDS, it is likely that also other factors influenced the relationship. As stated previously in this thesis, physical activity and genetic factors may be involved. In a cross-sectional study of 27 children with overweight or obesity, including direct VO_{2max} assessment, it was found that gene pathways related to inflammation differed between fit and unfit children, in favor for the fit children (146). However, if these pathways can be modified by exercise training, and thereby

decrease inflammatory markers in children is, to the best of my knowledge, not known. In adults, exercise training can improve levels of hs-CRP (280-282), and although the decrease is greater with simultaneous weight loss, improvements can still be achieved with no weight change (280). Exercise training, especially in individuals with obesity, has been suggested to affect the immune system by reducing hypoxia and there by low-grade inflammation in adipose tissue. Moreover, adaptations in muscle tissue, immune cells, and endothelial cells are likely to be involved. However, the mechanisms are not fully understood (282). In children with obesity, the potential causality between exercise training and decreased inflammation is less studied, and conducted meta-analyses, using different inflammatory markers as outcome measures, show mixed findings (283-285). However, if inflammatory markers in children can be improved by exercise training, it is likely that children with obesity would benefit the most.

The mixed cross-sectional findings on if different cardiometabolic markers are independently associated with CRF (127, 128, 275, 277, 278, 286) may be related to how adiposity and CRF is measured. Direct exercise tests, analyzing gas exchange, is the gold standard for assessing CRF (101), but only a few studies of CRF and inflammatory markers have used that assessment (278, 287). Steene-Johannessen et al. (278) found that among 836 Norwegian 9-year-olds, CRP was inversely associated with VO_{2max} relative to body weight when controlled for waist circumference. In a study of 245 Islandic 18-year-olds, Hinriksdottir et al. (287) found that VO_{2max} relative to body weight was inversely associated with CRF independent of BMI and waist circumference, but not for body fat percentage or for android fat mass. Further, VO_{2max} relative to fat free mass was unrelated to CRP. To my knowledge, Hinriksdottir et al. (287) is the only published study on inflammation and CRF in children using direct measures of VO_{2max} expressed relative to FFM. Nevertheless, Saeversson et al. (288) assessed CRF by a maximal indirect test in 94 adolescents and young adults and found that VO_{2max} relative to FFM was negatively associated with cardiometabolic risk factors. For VO_{2max} relative to body weight no significant associations were found when adjusted for adiposity. Therefore, the authors suggest that previous studies expressing CRF relative to body weight may have underestimated the impact of VO_{2max} on cardiometabolic risk. Hence, also the literature using VO_{2max} relative to FFM when evaluating associations with cardiometabolic risk factors, show mixed finding.

5.9 ASSESSING CARDIORESPIRATORY FITNESS—CONSIDERATIONS

Fat free mass, as a surrogate for active muscle mass, has a strong influence on VO_{2max} in children (102); moreover, FFM is independent of FM (289). Therefore, VO_{2max} relative to FFM has been suggested as the best indicator of physiological ability to maximally consume oxygen (290). Although direct tests are considered the most accurate approach of assessing VO_{2max} and FFM (e.g., dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry), the assessments are expensive and difficult to conduct in population-based trials or in clinical settings. Since direct VO_{2max} assessment is highly dependent on motivation to get a valid test result, it is difficult to use in children, especially in children without experience from physical exercise. Further, the accuracy of indirect approaches for assessing FFM, e.g., bioelectrical impedance, has been questioned in children with obesity (108, 109). Additionally, clinical evaluation of CRF and adiposity is

dependent of accessible assessment approaches, such as submaximal CRF assessment presented in relation to body weight. Although directly measured VO_{2max} in relation to FFM are more precise, clinically assessed VO_{2max} in children will still provide an understanding of the individual's CRF health status.

The Åstrand-Rhyming submaximal cycle ergometer test, used to assess CRF in Study IV and V, has not been validated for children with obesity. For children with normal weight, the test was shown to have similar validity compared with other indirect tests (219, 291, 292), underestimating the indirect VO_{2max} assessment by 19% (219). In Europe, the 20-m-shuttle run test is likely the most frequently used test for assessing CRF in children. The test consists of running between two lines, 20 meters apart, at a set pace, and the pace increase for every minute (104). Based on my clinical experience, submaximal cycle tests are likely preferable for children and adolescents with obesity, since musculoskeletal pain when walking or running is common in this patient group.

In Study V, almost one fifth of the included participants had a HR too high to estimate VO_{2max} , which resulted in that their CRF levels could not be evaluated. Further, most of these children were 12 years and younger. The same situation occurred in Study IV where 45% of the excluded children, most of them less than 12 years old, had a HR too high to estimate VO_{2max} . Considering that younger children have a higher submaximal HR (293), these findings most likely do not reflect extremely low CRF levels. Nevertheless, if it would not be able to assess CRF in an adolescent based on this situation, it may be appropriate to monitor that individual more frequent.

5.10 LIMITATIONS

There are several limitations in Study I-V, not previously discussed in this thesis. One limitation is the lack of qualitative data from the families and staff which would have added valuable information to both the feasibility study (Study I) and the process evaluation (Study II). Moreover, since the experience of using the mHealth approach was evaluated in the first two studies, it is a limitation that children did not answer questionnaires. However, these studies included children 5-12 years, and the mHealth intervention was used by parents. Therefore parental- and staff experience of the mHealth intervention was prioritized. Another limitation was that the questionnaires in Study I and II were not validated. Validated questionnaires for evaluating usability of mHealth interventions are available (294), and it would have strengthened the studies if a validated questionnaire was included. However, considering the novelty of the evaluated mHealth intervention it was necessary to ask very specific questions about e.g., self-weighing without showing the exact weight, and comments about the activity monitor. To avoid that the participants were lavished with tasks, additional questionnaires were not included. Further, a methodological limitation with the process evaluation (Study II) is that the study was planned retrospectively. Since the study initially was designed to evaluate the effectiveness of the mHealth intervention, data to address all questions within the NPT analysis were not available. In Study III data on neuropsychiatric disorders, ethnicity, and number of physical appointments were not available for the control group. This is a limitation since it is

not possible to compare the intervention- and the control group regarding these aspects. However, the random selection of the control group, based on certain criteria, makes it likely that the control group was representative of children in Sweden receiving standard obesity treatment (181).

There are several limitations in Study IV and V related to the use of clinical data. Lack of data on biological maturation was a limitation, since maturation is related to CRF (102), therefore, CRF was adjusted for height in the regression analyses, as a proxy for maturation Further, in Study V, using clinical data resulted in a time difference between assessment of CRF and assessed BP and blood sample collection. However, the median time difference was minor and concluded to be of little importance for the study results. Additionally, the cross-sectional study design in Study V does not enable conclusions on whether inflammatory markers change if CRF change. This is an important question that remains to be answered.

5.11 CLINICAL IMPLICATIONS

Mobile Health interventions have the potential to increase treatment intensity without extensive physical appointments, which is likely to be preferred both by the families and health care. The mHealth intervention, Evira[®], integrated in the behavioral treatment (Study III), provided clinically relevant treatment results that were significantly better compared with standard behavioral treatment. However, to maintain and increase engagement for using the mHealth tool, technical stability and technical support seems important. Moreover, it is likely that staff teamwork is important to maintain and increase engagement for the digital intervention. Findings of this thesis further indicate that staff needs to be supported regarded how to talk to families about negative experiences from self-weighing and concerns for eating disorders.

The reference values for CRF in children with obesity, could be used to evaluate a patients CRF health level. Children with a relative $VO_{2max} \leq the 25^{th}$ percentile are likely to have higher degrees of low-grade inflammation than children $\geq the 50^{th}$ percentile. Therefore, these children could benefit from being more closely monitored. Although still unknown, it is likely that improved CRF also will improve inflammatory profile. Hence, increased exercise training, preferably on a vigorous intensity, should be encouraged in all children with obesity.

6 CONCLUSIONS

It is likely that digital health will play a central part in future health care. In this thesis, a mobile Health intervention, including self-weighing with instant feedback and continuous digital support from the health care staff was evaluated and modified. Our findings show that the mHealth intervention for pediatric obesity treatment, combined with clinical appointments, resulted in better treatment outcomes of clinical relevance compared with solely behavioral treatment. These findings are promising since pediatric obesity treatment, without pharmacotherapy or bariatric surgery, has poor treatment effect. However, introducing a novel mHealth intervention in a clinical setting, including clinical trials and practice, place great demands on technical stability, and when this was not met, mHealth usage was low and the potential benefits from the mHealth intervention were not achieved. Therefore, it is likely that frequent modifications and improvements of a digital intervention are important to ensure that families' and staffs' needs, and expectations, are met.

In addition to mHealth evaluation, reference values for cardiorespiratory fitness in children is presented, aimed to improve grading of cardiorespiratory fitness in children with obesity. According to these reference values, lower levels of cardiorespiratory fitness was associated with increased inflammatory markers, independent of BMI SDS. These findings indicate that cardiorespiratory fitness may play an important role in decreasing low-grade inflammation.

7 FUTURE PERSPECTIVE

During recent years, effective treatment options with pharmacotherapy and bariatric surgery, have become available to more adolescents with obesity. Moreover, a vast number of mHealth interventions are being developed and studied, which may result in additional effective treatment approaches for children with obesity. Regarding the mHealth intervention in this thesis, further studies are needed to evaluate effectiveness at different clinics and in different cultural settings. In this matter, understanding of the clinical context is likely to be of major importance regarding how the mHealth intervention is received by the staff and families. Further, additional process evaluations would provide valuable information on further barriers and enablers likely to exist in other contexts. Regarding cardiorespiratory fitness in children, a large body of cross-sectional studies exist. To increase the understanding of how, and if, CRF can affect cardiometabolic risk in children, studies including exercise interventions are needed.

8 ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Pernilla Danielsson, my main supervisor and dear friend. I can't thank you enough for all the support and time you have given me during these last four years. I'm so very grateful to have been involved in several clinical trials with you, with the extensive experience you have from clinical trials and pediatric obesity. We started our work together with travelling almost all of Sweden for a few months and I can't think of any better way to really get to know someone. I have had so much fun.

Claude Marcus, my co-supervisor, thank you for all the inspiration during my time as a PhD student. You always have time to share your knowledge and for a scientific discussion. I really appreciate that. You have challenged me to be critical and to think outside the box. That is something I will always carry with me. My sincerest thank you.

Maria Hagströmer, my co-supervisor, thank you for cheering me on and for always being just an e-mail away. I admire your ability to focus on details and see the bigger picture simultaneously. Your drive forward is contagious, and your input on my work has made it so much better.

Emilia Hagman, I'm so glad that I got to work with you during the last few years. Thank you for all discussions, great advice, and for generously offering your help. Also, thanks for chit chat about life in general.

Maria Westerståhl, I am very grateful that you accepted supervising me in my master's thesis. That experience is a major reason that I got curious about a PhD education. Thank you for being so encouraging.

To present and former members of the PhD crew, **Markus Brissman**, thank you for input on my work and for being patient when I have harassed you with statistical questions, **Resthie Putri**, thank you for the statistical discussions and for your help, **Linnea Berqvist Norén**, **Louise Lindberg**, **Veroniqa Lundbäck**, and **Julia Xiu**, my time as a PhD student would not have been nearly as fun without you. Let's all hang out soon!

Thank you, current and former colleagues in the research group, Monika Grzeskowiak, Karin Nordin, Anna Ek, Paulina Nowicka, Michaela Forssén, Kerstin Ekbom, and Anna E Ek and thank you current and former administrative staff, Anette Johansson, Carol Melton, Agneta Wittlock, Nina Risti, and Lisbeth Sjödin.

Head of the pediatric unit, **Björn Fischler**, thank you for being encouraging. Always. That has been highly appreciated.

To the current and former team at the National Childhood Obesity Center, I am grateful to have worked with you all. A special thanks to **Gunilla Morinder** for your never-ending support and to **Annika Jansson**, your clinical skills are truly inspiring. Also, thanks to **Jon, Amira, Elisabeth, Mahnoush, Malin, Sandra, Martina, Karin, Ewelyn, Elin, Fyffe, Marten**,

Martin, Marie, Robert, Markus, Johanna, Leena, Gunilla, Vanja, Anne, Vasiliki, Ea, Karin, Eva, Ola and everyone else that I have worked with.

My colleagues at Martina Children's Hospital, **Malin, Maja, Lotta, Bim, Claude M, Karin, Sara, Linnea, Mimmi, Marie, Annelie, Lena, Claude K**, and **Kajsa,** you are all a big part of this PhD project. Thank you for all the good times.

To team Evira, it has been a journey! A special thanks to **Love Marcus** and **Andreas Drangel.** It has been a while, and a few new offices, since I came by every day initiating activity monitors or collected scales. In retrospect, it was quite fun. Thank you both.

To my former bosses at the Physiotherapy clinic, **Camilla Öberg, Cecilia Rodriguez,** and **Li Villard,** thanks for your support and flexibility with scheduling and everything else during my time as a PhD student. The same goes for **Kerstin Dencker**, thank you.

My colleagues at the Karolinska University Hospital in Huddinge, **Sofia, Anna T, Anna H, Ceci, Anna S, Birgitta, Alexandra, Robert, Markus, Gunilla, Olivia, Victor, Felicia, Johanna,** and everyone else that I have worked with, thank you. A special thanks to Mimmi **Eriksson Westblad** for good times and exchanging pep-talks and to **Eeva Europe** for making me feel at home when I first moved to Stockholm.

I would like to thank **all clinical staff** involved in the trials of this thesis. Thank you for your valuable work in pediatric obesity treatment.

My dear friend **Sofia Eberstål**, having you as my PhD mentor has meant a lot to me. Thank you for being interested and supportive. You have a gift for pep-talks and whenever we talk, I feel that most things are possible. Thank you!

Suzana, our weekly chats sharing struggles about our PhD projects and general life updates have been so valuable to me. This time wouldn't have been nearly as fun without your PhD memes.

To **mom** and **dad**, thank you for being such a big part of our life. The daily morning phone calls are always a good start of the day. My sisters **Lovisa**, **Emelie**, **Matilda**, and my brother **Alfred**, thank you for making me feel that I can always count on you.

Karin, I don't know where to start. Thank you for knowing me inside and out. You truly are the sunshine of my life, and although it would be appropriate (and maybe expected) I do not have the skills to write you a love song. Thank you for your unconditional support. And to **Leo** and **Axel Hugo,** you are included in the crew of my all-time favorite people.

Erik, thank you for always believing in me. You have encouraged me in my PhD studies from day one and patiently supported me with your excel expertise and language skills. Also, thank you for helping me stress down when needed and for just being there. Both you and **Albert** help me see the important aspects of life. I am so grateful for what we have.

8.1 FUNDING

This thesis would not have been possible without the generous grants from the Stockholm Freemasons' Foundation of Children's Welfare. I have also gratefully received financial support from HRH Crown Princess Lovisa's Foundation for Pediatric Care, Research Education and Intervention at Karolinska University Hospital, and Mjölkdroppen Foundation. I have also received travel grants from Eva and Oscar Ahréns Foundation, Mjölkdroppen Foundation, and Gålö Foundation. My Ph.D studies have also, through my supervisors, been supported by grants from Region Stockholm (ALF project).

9 REFERENCES

1. Cole TJ, Lobstein T. Extended international (IOTF) body mass index cut-offs for thinness, overweight and obesity. Pediatr Obes. 2012;7(4):284-94.

2. de Onis M, Onyango AW, Borghi E, Siyam A, Nishida C, Siekmann J. Development of a WHO growth reference for school-aged children and adolescents. Bull World Health Organ. 2007;85(9):660-7.

3. Kuczmarski RJ, Ogden CL, Guo SS, Grummer-Strawn LM, Flegal KM, Mei Z, et al. 2000 CDC Growth Charts for the United States: methods and development. Vital Health Stat 11. 2002(246):1-190.

4. Karlberg J, Luo ZC, Albertsson-Wikland K. Body mass index reference values (mean and SD) for Swedish children. Acta Paediatr. 2001;90(12):1427-34.

5. Reinehr T, Hinney A, de Sousa G, Austrup F, Hebebrand J, Andler W. Definable somatic disorders in overweight children and adolescents. J Pediatr. 2007;150(6):618-22, 22.e1-5.

6. Yengo L, Sidorenko J, Kemper KE, Zheng Z, Wood AR, Weedon MN, et al. Meta-analysis of genome-wide association studies for height and body mass index in ~700000 individuals of European ancestry. Hum Mol Genet. 2018;27(20):3641-9.

7. Loos RJF, Yeo GSH. The genetics of obesity: from discovery to biology. Nat Rev Genet. 2021:1-14.

8. Vogelezang S, Bradfield JP, Ahluwalia TS, Curtin JA, Lakka TA, Grarup N, et al. Novel loci for childhood body mass index and shared heritability with adult cardiometabolic traits. PLoS Genet. 2020;16(10):e1008718.

9. Alfano R, Robinson O, Handakas E, Nawrot TS, Vineis P, Plusquin M. Perspectives and challenges of epigenetic determinants of childhood obesity: A systematic review. Obes Rev. 2022;23 Suppl 1:e13389.

10. Kawasaki M, Arata N, Ogawa Y. Obesity and abnormal glucose tolerance in the offspring of mothers with diabetes. Curr Opin Obstet Gynecol. 2018;30(6):361-8.

11. Parsons TJ, Power C, Logan S, Summerbell CD. Childhood predictors of adult obesity: a systematic review. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord. 1999;23 Suppl 8:S1-107.

12. Chi DL, Luu M, Chu F. A scoping review of epidemiologic risk factors for pediatric obesity: Implications for future childhood obesity and dental caries prevention research. J Public Health Dent. 2017;77 Suppl 1:S8-s31.

13. Morandi A, Meyre D, Lobbens S, Kleinman K, Kaakinen M, Rifas-Shiman SL, et al. Estimation of newborn risk for child or adolescent obesity: lessons from longitudinal birth cohorts. PLoS One. 2012;7(11):e49919.

14. Svensson V, Jacobsson JA, Fredriksson R, Danielsson P, Sobko T, Schiöth HB, et al. Associations between severity of obesity in childhood and adolescence, obesity onset and parental BMI: a longitudinal cohort study. Int J Obes (Lond). 2011;35(1):46-52.

15. Silventoinen K, Rokholm B, Kaprio J, Sørensen TI. The genetic and environmental influences on childhood obesity: a systematic review of twin and adoption studies. Int J Obes (Lond). 2010;34(1):29-40.

16. Dubois L, Ohm Kyvik K, Girard M, Tatone-Tokuda F, Pérusse D, Hjelmborg J, et al. Genetic and environmental contributions to weight, height, and BMI from birth to 19 years of age: an international study of over 12,000 twin pairs. PLoS One. 2012;7(2):e30153.

17. Silventoinen K, Jelenkovic A, Sund R, Hur YM, Yokoyama Y, Honda C, et al. Genetic and environmental effects on body mass index from infancy to the onset of adulthood: an individual-based pooled analysis of 45 twin cohorts participating in the COllaborative project of Development of Anthropometrical measures in Twins (CODATwins) study. Am J Clin Nutr. 2016;104(2):371-9.

18. Shavers VL. Measurement of socioeconomic status in health disparities research. J Natl Med Assoc. 2007;99(9):1013-23.

Shrewsbury V, Wardle J. Socioeconomic status and adiposity in childhood: a systematic review of cross-sectional studies 1990-2005. Obesity (Silver Spring).
2008;16(2):275-84.

20. O'Dea JA, Chiang H, Peralta LR. Socioeconomic patterns of overweight, obesity but not thinness persist from childhood to adolescence in a 6-year longitudinal cohort of Australian schoolchildren from 2007 to 2012. BMC Public Health. 2014;14:222.

21. Muhlig Y, Antel J, Focker M, Hebebrand J. Are bidirectional associations of obesity and depression already apparent in childhood and adolescence as based on high-quality studies? A systematic review. Obes Rev. 2016;17(3):235-49.

22. Lindberg L, Hagman E, Danielsson P, Marcus C, Persson M. Anxiety and depression in children and adolescents with obesity: a nationwide study in Sweden. BMC Med. 2020;18(1):30.

23. Kaufman L, Ayub M, Vincent JB. The genetic basis of non-syndromic intellectual disability: a review. J Neurodev Disord. 2010;2(4):182-209.

24. Li YJ, Xie XN, Lei X, Li YM, Lei X. Global prevalence of obesity, overweight and underweight in children, adolescents and adults with autism spectrum disorder, attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Obes Rev. 2020;21(12):e13123.

25. Miller MA, Kruisbrink M, Wallace J, Ji C, Cappuccio FP. Sleep duration and incidence of obesity in infants, children, and adolescents: a systematic review and metaanalysis of prospective studies. Sleep. 2018;41(4).

26. Xiu L, Ekstedt M, Hagströmer M, Bruni O, Bergqvist-Norén L, Marcus C. Sleep and Adiposity in Children From 2 to 6 Years of Age. Pediatrics. 2020;145(3).

27. Guthrie JF, Lin B-H, Frazao E. Role of food prepared away from home in the American diet, 1977-78 versus 1994-96: changes and consequences. J Nutr Educ Behav. 2002;34(3):140-50.

28. Lööv H, Widell LM. Livsmedelskonsumtionen i siffror: Hur har konsumtionen utvecklats de senaste femtio åren och varför? 2015.

29. Mancino L, Todd JE, Guthrie J, Lin BH. Food Away from Home and Childhood Obesity. Curr Obes Rep. 2014;3(4):459-69.

30. Pereira MA, Kartashov AI, Ebbeling CB, Van Horn L, Slattery ML, Jacobs Jr DR, et al. Fast-food habits, weight gain, and insulin resistance (the CARDIA study): 15-year prospective analysis. 2005;365(9453):36-42.

31. Malik VS, Pan A, Willett WC, Hu FB. Sugar-sweetened beverages and weight gain in children and adults: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Am J Clin Nutr. 2013;98(4):1084-102.

32. DeBoer MD, Scharf RJ, Demmer RT. Sugar-sweetened beverages and weight gain in 2- to 5-year-old children. Pediatrics. 2013;132(3):413-20.

33. Jiménez-Pavón D, Kelly J, Reilly JJ. Associations between objectively measured habitual physical activity and adiposity in children and adolescents: Systematic review. Int J Pediatr Obes. 2010;5(1):3-18.

34. Rauner A, Mess F, Woll A. The relationship between physical activity, physical fitness and overweight in adolescents: a systematic review of studies published in or after 2000. BMC Pediatr. 2013;13:19.

35. Ruiz JR, Rizzo NS, Hurtig-Wennlöf A, Ortega FB, Wärnberg J, Sjöström M. Relations of total physical activity and intensity to fitness and fatness in children: the European Youth Heart Study. Am J Clin Nutr. 2006;84(2):299-303.

36. Bürgi F, Meyer U, Granacher U, Schindler C, Marques-Vidal P, Kriemler S, et al. Relationship of physical activity with motor skills, aerobic fitness and body fat in preschool children: a cross-sectional and longitudinal study (Ballabeina). Int J Obes (Lond). 2011;35(7):937-44.

37. Metcalf BS, Hosking J, Jeffery AN, Voss LD, Henley W, Wilkin TJ. Fatness leads to inactivity, but inactivity does not lead to fatness: a longitudinal study in children (EarlyBird 45). Arch Dis Child. 2011;96(10):942-7.

38. Sprengeler O, Pohlabeln H, Bammann K, Buck C, Lauria F, Verbestel V, et al. Trajectories of objectively measured physical activity and childhood overweight: longitudinal analysis of the IDEFICS/I.Family cohort. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act. 2021;18(1):103.

39. Biddle SJ, García Bengoechea E, Wiesner G. Sedentary behaviour and adiposity in youth: a systematic review of reviews and analysis of causality. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act. 2017;14(1):43.

40. Ng M, Fleming T, Robinson M, Thomson B, Graetz N, Margono C, et al. Global, regional, and national prevalence of overweight and obesity in children and adults during 1980-2013: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2013. Lancet. 2014;384(9945):766-81.

41. NCD Risk factor collabortation. Worldwide trends in body-mass index, underweight, overweight, and obesity from 1975 to 2016: a pooled analysis of 2416 population-based measurement studies in 128.9 million children, adolescents, and adults. Lancet. 2017;390(10113):2627-42.

42. Chung A, Backholer K, Wong E, Palermo C, Keating C, Peeters A. Trends in child and adolescent obesity prevalence in economically advanced countries according to socioeconomic position: a systematic review. Obes Rev. 2016;17(3):276-95.

43. Wijnhoven TM, van Raaij JM, Spinelli A, Rito AI, Hovengen R, Kunesova M, et al. WHO European Childhood Obesity Surveillance Initiative 2008: weight, height and body mass index in 6-9-year-old children. Pediatr Obes. 2013;8(2):79-97.

44. Neovius M, Janson A, Rössner S. Prevalence of obesity in Sweden. Obes Rev. 2006;7(1):1-3.

45. Bygdell M, Ohlsson C, Celind J, Saternus J, Sonden A, Kindblom JM. The rise and the recent decline of childhood obesity in Swedish boys: the BEST cohort. Int J Obes (Lond). 2017;41(5):807-12.

46. Bygdell M, Célind J, Lilja L, Martikainen J, Simonson L, Sjögren L, et al. Prevalence of overweight and obesity from 5 to 19 years of age in Gothenburg, Sweden. Acta Paediatr. 2021.

47. Ekblom O, Oddsson K, Ekblom B. Prevalence and regional differences in overweight in 2001 and trends in BMI distribution in Swedish children from 1987 to 2001. Scand J Public Health. 2004;32(4):257-63.

48. Twig G, Yaniv G, Levine H, Leiba A, Goldberger N, Derazne E, et al. Body-Mass Index in 2.3 Million Adolescents and Cardiovascular Death in Adulthood. N Engl J Med. 2016;374(25):2430-40.

49. Lindberg L, Danielsson P, Persson M, Marcus C, Hagman E. Association of childhood obesity with risk of early all-cause and cause-specific mortality: A Swedish prospective cohort study. PLoS Med. 2020;17(3):e1003078.

50. Baker JL, Olsen LW, Sorensen TI. Childhood body-mass index and the risk of coronary heart disease in adulthood. N Engl J Med. 2007;357(23):2329-37.

51. Friedemann C, Heneghan C, Mahtani K, Thompson M, Perera R, Ward AM. Cardiovascular disease risk in healthy children and its association with body mass index: systematic review and meta-analysis. Bmj. 2012;345:e4759.

52. Andersen LB, Sardinha LB, Froberg K, Riddoch CJ, Page AS, Anderssen SA. Fitness, fatness and clustering of cardiovascular risk factors in children from Denmark, Estonia and Portugal: the European Youth Heart Study. Int J Pediatr Obes. 2008;3 Suppl 1:58-66.

53. Nystrom CD, Henriksson P, Martinez-Vizcaino V, Medrano M, Cadenas-Sanchez C, Arias-Palencia NM, et al. Does Cardiorespiratory Fitness Attenuate the Adverse Effects of Severe/Morbid Obesity on Cardiometabolic Risk and Insulin Resistance in Children? A Pooled Analysis. Diabetes Care. 2017;40(11):1580-7.

54. Skinner AC, Perrin EM, Moss LA, Skelton JA. Cardiometabolic Risks and Severity of Obesity in Children and Young Adults. N Engl J Med. 2015;373(14):1307-17.

55. Hagman E, Danielsson P, Elimam A, Marcus C. The effect of weight loss and weight gain on blood pressure in children and adolescents with obesity. Int J Obes (Lond). 2019;43(10):1988-94.

56. Westerståhl M, Hedvall Kallerman P, Hagman E, Ek A, Rössner S, Marcus C. Nocturnal blood pressure non-dipping is prevalent in severely obese, prepubertal and early pubertal children. Acta Paediatr. 2014;103(2):225-30.

57. Lund MAV, Thostrup AH, Frithioff-Bøjsøe C, Lausten-Thomsen U, Hedley PL, Pedersen O, et al. Low-grade inflammation independently associates with cardiometabolic risk in children with overweight/obesity. Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis. 2020;30(9):1544-53.

58. Giorgio V, Prono F, Graziano F, Nobili V. Pediatric non alcoholic fatty liver disease: old and new concepts on development, progression, metabolic insight and potential treatment targets. BMC Pediatr. 2013;13:40.

59. Seth A, Orkin S, Yodoshi T, Liu C, Fei L, Hardy J, et al. Severe obesity is associated with liver disease severity in pediatric non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. Pediatr Obes. 2020;15(2):e12581.

60. Hannon TS, Rao G, Arslanian SA. Childhood obesity and type 2 diabetes mellitus. Pediatrics. 2005;116(2):473-80.

61. Thunander M, Petersson C, Jonzon K, Fornander J, Ossiansson B, Torn C, et al. Incidence of type 1 and type 2 diabetes in adults and children in Kronoberg, Sweden. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2008;82(2):247-55.

62. Malecka-Tendera E, Erhardt E, Molnar D. Type 2 diabetes mellitus in European children and adolescents. Acta Paediatr. 2005;94(5):543-6.

63. Ek AE, Rossner SM, Hagman E, Marcus C. High prevalence of prediabetes in a Swedish cohort of severely obese children. Pediatr Diabetes. 2015;16(2):117-28.

64. Skinner AC, Steiner MJ, Henderson FW, Perrin EM. Multiple markers of inflammation and weight status: cross-sectional analyses throughout childhood. Pediatrics. 2010;125(4):e801-9.

65. Visser M, Bouter LM, McQuillan GM, Wener MH, Harris TB. Elevated C-reactive protein levels in overweight and obese adults. Jama. 1999;282(22):2131-5.

66. Geovanini GR, Libby P. Atherosclerosis and inflammation: overview and updates. Clin Sci (Lond). 2018;132(12):1243-52.

67. Levy E, Saenger AK, Steffes MW, Delvin E. Pediatric Obesity and Cardiometabolic Disorders: Risk Factors and Biomarkers. Ejifcc. 2017;28(1):6-24.

68. Ridker PM, Buring JE, Cook NR, Rifai N. C-reactive protein, the metabolic syndrome, and risk of incident cardiovascular events: an 8-year follow-up of 14 719 initially healthy American women. Circulation. 2003;107(3):391-7.

69. Umano GR, Pistone C, Tondina E, Moiraghi A, Lauretta D, Miraglia Del Giudice E, et al. Pediatric Obesity and the Immune System. Front Pediatr. 2019;7:487.

70. Giglione E, Lapolla R, Cianfarani S, Faienza MF, Fintini D, Weber G, et al. Linear growth and puberty in childhood obesity: what is new? Minerva Pediatr (Torino). 2021;73(6):563-71.

71. Reinehr T, Roth CL. Is there a causal relationship between obesity and puberty? Lancet Child Adolesc Health. 2019;3(1):44-54.

72. Chan G, Chen CT. Musculoskeletal effects of obesity. Curr Opin Pediatr. 2009;21(1):65-70.

73. Lindberg L, Persson M, Danielsson P, Hagman E, Marcus C. Obesity in childhood, socioeconomic status, and completion of 12 or more school years: a prospective cohort study. BMJ Open. 2021;11(3):e040432.

74. Puhl RM, King KM. Weight discrimination and bullying. Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2013;27(2):117-27.

75. Pont SJ, Puhl R, Cook SR, Slusser W. Stigma Experienced by Children and Adolescents With Obesity. Pediatrics. 2017;140(6).

76. Bonsergent E, Benie-Bi J, Baumann C, Agrinier N, Tessier S, Thilly N, et al. Effect of gender on the association between weight status and health-related quality of life in adolescents. BMC Public Health. 2012;12:997.

77. McClure AC, Tanski SE, Kingsbury J, Gerrard M, Sargent JD. Characteristics associated with low self-esteem among US adolescents. Acad Pediatr. 2010;10(4):238-44.e2.

78. Thomas JG, Butryn ML, Stice E, Lowe MR. A prospective test of the relation between weight change and risk for bulimia nervosa. Int J Eat Disord. 2011;44(4):295-303.

79. Hilbert A, Pike KM, Goldschmidt AB, Wilfley DE, Fairburn CG, Dohm FA, et al. Risk factors across the eating disorders. Psychiatry Res. 2014;220(1-2):500-6.

80. Puhl R, Suh Y. Stigma and eating and weight disorders. Curr Psychiatry Rep. 2015;17(3):552.

81. Caspersen CJ, Powell KE, Christenson GM. Physical activity, exercise, and physical fitness: definitions and distinctions for health-related research. Public Health Rep. 1985;100(2):126-31.

82. Ainsworth BE, Haskell WL, Whitt MC, Irwin ML, Swartz AM, Strath SJ, et al. Compendium of physical activities: an update of activity codes and MET intensities. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2000;32(9 Suppl):S498-S516.

83. World Health Organization. WHO Guidelines on Physical Activity and Sedentary Behaviour. Geneva: World Health Organization

© World Health Organization 2020.; 2020.

84. Cao M, Quan M, Zhuang J. Effect of High-Intensity Interval Training versus Moderate-Intensity Continuous Training on Cardiorespiratory Fitness in Children and Adolescents: A Meta-Analysis. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2019;16(9).

85. Ainsworth B, Cahalin L, Buman M, Ross R. The current state of physical activity assessment tools. Prog Cardiovasc Dis. 2015;57(4):387-95.

86. Dyrstad SM, Hansen BH, Holme IM, Anderssen SA. Comparison of selfreported versus accelerometer-measured physical activity. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2014;46(1):99-106.

87. Migueles JH, Cadenas-Sanchez C, Ekelund U, Delisle Nyström C, Mora-Gonzalez J, Löf M, et al. Accelerometer Data Collection and Processing Criteria to Assess Physical Activity and Other Outcomes: A Systematic Review and Practical Considerations. Sports Med. 2017;47(9):1821-45.

88. American College of Sports Medicine. ACSM's guidelines for exercise testing and prescription. Tenth edition. ed. Riebe D, Ehrman JK, Liguori G, Magal M, editors: Philadelphia : Wolters Kluwer; 2018.

89. Larsen MN, Nielsen CM, Helge EW, Madsen M, Manniche V, Hansen L, et al. Positive effects on bone mineralisation and muscular fitness after 10 months of intense school-based physical training for children aged 8-10 years: the FIT FIRST randomised controlled trial. Br J Sports Med. 2018;52(4):254-60.

90. Dencker M, Thorsson O, Karlsson MK, Linden C, Svensson J, Wollmer P, et al. Daily physical activity and its relation to aerobic fitness in children aged 8-11 years. Eur J Appl Physiol. 2006;96(5):587-92.

91. Braaksma P, Stuive I, Garst RME, Wesselink CF, van der Sluis CK, Dekker R, et al. Characteristics of physical activity interventions and effects on cardiorespiratory fitness in children aged 6-12 years-A systematic review. J Sci Med Sport. 2018;21(3):296-306.

92. Abrignani MG, Luca F, Favilli S, Benvenuto M, Rao CM, Di Fusco SA, et al. Lifestyles and Cardiovascular Prevention in Childhood and Adolescence. Pediatr Cardiol. 2019;40(6):1113-25.

93. Bell LM, Watts K, Siafarikas A, Thompson A, Ratnam N, Bulsara M, et al. Exercise alone reduces insulin resistance in obese children independently of changes in body composition. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2007;92(11):4230-5.

94. Korczak DJ, Madigan S, Colasanto M. Children's Physical Activity and Depression: A Meta-analysis. Pediatrics. 2017;139(4).

95. de Greeff JW, Bosker RJ, Oosterlaan J, Visscher C, Hartman E. Effects of physical activity on executive functions, attention and academic performance in preadolescent children: a meta-analysis. J Sci Med Sport. 2018;21(5):501-7.

96. Ross R, Blair SN, Arena R, Church TS, Després JP, Franklin BA, et al. Importance of Assessing Cardiorespiratory Fitness in Clinical Practice: A Case for Fitness as a Clinical Vital Sign: A Scientific Statement From the American Heart Association. Circulation. 2016;134(24):e653-e99.

97. Åstrand P-O, Rodahl K, Dahl HA, Strømme SB. Textbook of work physiology: physiological bases of exercise: Human Kinetics; 2003.

98. Kenney WL, Wilmore JH, Costill DL. Physiology of sport and exercise: Human kinetics; 2015.

99. Green S, Askew C. Vo(2peak) is an acceptable estimate of cardiorespiratory fitness but not Vo(2max). J Appl Physiol (1985). 2018;125(1):229-32.

100. Azevedo P, Bhammar DM, Babb TG, Bowen TS, Witte KK, Rossiter HB, et al. Commentaries on Viewpoint: Vo(2peak) is an acceptable estimate of cardiorespiratory fitness but not Vo(2max). J Appl Physiol (1985). 2018;125(1):233-40.

101. Fletcher GF, Balady GJ, Amsterdam EA, Chaitman B, Eckel R, Fleg J, et al. Exercise standards for testing and training: a statement for healthcare professionals from the American Heart Association. Circulation. 2001;104(14):1694-740.

102. Armstrong N, Welsman J. Traditional and new perspectives on youth cardiorespiratory fitness. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2020;52(12):2563.

103. Gutin B, Barbeau P, Owens S, Lemmon CR, Bauman M, Allison J, et al. Effects of exercise intensity on cardiovascular fitness, total body composition, and visceral adiposity of obese adolescents. Am J Clin Nutr. 2002;75(5):818-26.

104. Leger LA, Mercier D, Gadoury C, Lambert J. The multistage 20 metre shuttle run test for aerobic fitness. J Sports Sci. 1988;6(2):93-101.

105. Guyatt GH, Sullivan MJ, Thompson PJ, Fallen EL, Pugsley SO, Taylor DW, et al. The 6-minute walk: a new measure of exercise capacity in patients with chronic heart failure. Can Med Assoc J. 1985;132(8):919-23.

106. Astrand PO, Ryhming I. A nomogram for calculation of aerobic capacity (physical fitness) from pulse rate during sub-maximal work. J Appl Physiol. 1954;7(2):218-21.

107. Astrand I. Aerobic work capacity in men and women with special reference to age. Acta Physiol Scand Suppl. 1960;49(169):1-92.

108. Wan CS, Ward LC, Halim J, Gow ML, Ho M, Briody JN, et al. Bioelectrical impedance analysis to estimate body composition, and change in adiposity, in overweight and obese adolescents: comparison with dual-energy x-ray absorptiometry. BMC Pediatr. 2014;14:249.

109. Seo YG, Kim JH, Kim Y, Lim H, Ju YS, Kang MJ, et al. Validation of body composition using bioelectrical impedance analysis in children according to the degree of obesity. Scand J Med Sci Sports. 2018;28(10):2207-15.

110. Ekelund U, Luan J, Sherar LB, Esliger DW, Griew P, Cooper A. Moderate to vigorous physical activity and sedentary time and cardiometabolic risk factors in children and adolescents. Jama. 2012;307(7):704-12.

111. Rizzo NS, Ruiz JR, Hurtig-Wennlof A, Ortega FB, Sjostrom M. Relationship of physical activity, fitness, and fatness with clustered metabolic risk in children and adolescents: the European youth heart study. J Pediatr. 2007;150(4):388-94.

112. Dencker M, Thorsson O, Karlsson MK, Lindén C, Wollmer P, Andersen LB. Aerobic fitness related to cardiovascular risk factors in young children. Eur J Pediatr. 2012;171(4):705-10.

113. Hurtig-Wennlof A, Ruiz JR, Harro M, Sjostrom M. Cardiorespiratory fitness relates more strongly than physical activity to cardiovascular disease risk factors in healthy children and adolescents: the European Youth Heart Study. Eur J Cardiovasc Prev Rehabil. 2007;14(4):575-81.

114. Bouchard C, Rankinen T. Individual differences in response to regular physical activity. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2001;33(6 Suppl):S446-51; discussion S52-3.

115. An P, Borecki IB, Rankinen T, Pérusse L, Leon AS, Skinner JS, et al. Evidence of major genes for exercise heart rate and blood pressure at baseline and in response to 20 weeks of endurance training: the HERITAGE family study. Int J Sports Med. 2003;24(7):492-8.

116. Park E, Volding DC, Taylor WC, Chan W, Meininger JC. Cardiorespiratory fitness, adiposity, and ambulatory blood pressure in adolescents. J Sports Med Phys Fitness. 2020;60(6):926-33.

117. Pozuelo-Carrascosa DP, Sánchez-López M, Cavero-Redondo I, Torres-Costoso A, Bermejo-Cantarero A, Martínez-Vizcaíno V. Obesity as a Mediator between Cardiorespiratory Fitness and Blood Pressure in Preschoolers. J Pediatr. 2017;182:114-9.e2.

118. Dong Y, Jan C, Zou Z, Dong B, Hu P, Ma Y, et al. Comprehensive physical fitness and high blood pressure in children and adolescents: A national cross-sectional survey in China. J Sci Med Sport. 2020;23(9):800-6.

119. Morinder G, Larsson UE, Norgren S, Marcus C. Insulin sensitivity, VO2max and body composition in severely obese Swedish children and adolescents. Acta Paediatr. 2009;98(1):132-8.

120. Kondakis K, Kondakis M, Androutsos O, De Henauw S, González-Gross M, Moreno LA, et al. Cardiorespiratory fitness is associated with body composition and insulin resistance in European adolescents: HELENA study. J Sports Med Phys Fitness. 2020;60(10):1349-57. 121. Telford RD, Cunningham RB, Shaw JE, Dunstan DW, Lafferty AR, Reynolds GJ, et al. Contrasting longitudinal and cross-sectional relationships between insulin resistance and percentage of body fat, fitness, and physical activity in children-the LOOK study. Pediatr Diabetes. 2009;10(8):500-7.

122. Jones PR, Rajalahti T, Resaland GK, Aadland E, Steene-Johannessen J, Anderssen SA, et al. Cross-sectional and prospective associations between aerobic fitness and lipoprotein particle profile in a cohort of Norwegian schoolchildren. Atherosclerosis. 2021;321:21-9.

123. Penha JTD, Gazolla FM, Carvalho CNM, Madeira IR, Rodrigues-Júnior F, Machado EA, et al. Physical fitness and activity, metabolic profile, adipokines and endothelial function in children. J Pediatr (Rio J). 2019;95(5):531-7.

124. Trilk JL, Ortaglia A, Blair SN, Bottai M, Church TS, Pate RR. Cardiorespiratory fitness, waist circumference, and alanine aminotransferase in youth. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2013;45(4):722-7.

125. Medrano M, Labayen I, Ruiz JR, Rodríguez G, Breidenassel C, Castillo M, et al. Cardiorespiratory fitness, waist circumference and liver enzyme levels in European adolescents: The HELENA cross-sectional study. J Sci Med Sport. 2017;20(10):932-6.

126. Agostinis Sobrinho CA, Moreira CM, Mota JA, Santos RM. C-reactive protein, physical activity and cardiorespiratory fitness in Portuguese adolescents: a cross-sectional study. Cad Saude Publica. 2015;31(9):1907-15.

127. Martinez-Gomez D, Eisenmann JC, Wärnberg J, Gomez-Martinez S, Veses A, Veiga OL, et al. Associations of physical activity, cardiorespiratory fitness and fatness with low-grade inflammation in adolescents: the AFINOS Study. Int J Obes (Lond). 2010;34(10):1501-7.

128. Ruiz JR, Ortega FB, Warnberg J, Sjöström M. Associations of low-grade inflammation with physical activity, fitness and fatness in prepubertal children; the European Youth Heart Study. Int J Obes (Lond). 2007;31(10):1545-51.

129. Artero EG, Ruiz JR, Ortega FB, Espana-Romero V, Vicente-Rodriguez G, Molnar D, et al. Muscular and cardiorespiratory fitness are independently associated with metabolic risk in adolescents: the HELENA study. Pediatr Diabetes. 2011;12(8):704-12.

130. Perez-Bey A, Segura-Jimenez V, Fernandez-Santos JDR, Esteban-Cornejo I, Gomez-Martinez S, Veiga OL, et al. The influence of cardiorespiratory fitness on clustered cardiovascular disease risk factors and the mediator role of body mass index in youth: The UP&DOWN Study. Pediatr Diabetes. 2019;20(1):32-40.

131. Silva DR, Werneck AO, Collings PJ, Ohara D, Fernandes RA, Barbosa DS, et al. Cardiorespiratory fitness effect may be under-estimated in 'fat but fit' hypothesis studies. Ann Hum Biol. 2017;44(3):237-42.

132. Stoner L, Pontzer H, Barone Gibbs B, Moore JB, Castro N, Skidmore P, et al. Fitness and Fatness Are Both Associated with Cardiometabolic Risk in Preadolescents. J Pediatr. 2020;217:39-45.e1.

133. Mintjens S, Menting MD, Daams JG, van Poppel MNM, Roseboom TJ, Gemke R. Cardiorespiratory Fitness in Childhood and Adolescence Affects Future Cardiovascular Risk Factors: A Systematic Review of Longitudinal Studies. Sports Med. 2018;48(11):2577-605.

134. Boreham C, Twisk J, Murray L, Savage M, Strain JJ, Cran G. Fitness, fatness, and coronary heart disease risk in adolescents: the Northern Ireland Young Hearts Project. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2001;33(2):270-4.

135. Shang X, Li Y, Xu H, Zhang Q, Hu X, Liu A, et al. Independent and Interactive Associations of Fitness and Fatness With Changes in Cardiometabolic Risk in Children: A Longitudinal Analysis. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne). 2020;11:342.

136. Agostinis-Sobrinho C, Rosário R, Santos R, Norkiene S, Mota J, Rauckienė-Michaelsson A, et al. Higher Cardiorespiratory Fitness Levels May Attenuate the Detrimental Association between Weight Status, Metabolic Phenotype and C-Reactive Protein in Adolescents-A Multi-Cohort Study. Nutrients. 2020;12(5).

137. Venckunas T, Emeljanovas A, Mieziene B, Volbekiene V. Secular trends in physical fitness and body size in Lithuanian children and adolescents between 1992 and 2012. J Epidemiol Community Health. 2017;71(2):181-7.

138. Tomkinson GR, Olds TS. Secular changes in pediatric aerobic fitness test performance: the global picture. Med Sport Sci. 2007;50:46-66.

139. Ekblom OB, Bak EA, Ekblom BT. Cross-sectional trends in cardiovascular fitness in Swedish 16-year-olds between 1987 and 2007. Acta Paediatr. 2011;100(4):565-9.

140. Tomkinson GR, Lang JJ, Tremblay MS. Temporal trends in the cardiorespiratory fitness of children and adolescents representing 19 high-income and upper middle-income countries between 1981 and 2014. Br J Sports Med. 2019;53(8):478-86.

141. Fühner T, Kliegl R, Arntz F, Kriemler S, Granacher U. An Update on Secular Trends in Physical Fitness of Children and Adolescents from 1972 to 2015: A Systematic Review. Sports Med. 2021;51(2):303-20.

142. Westerstahl M, Barnekow-Bergkvist M, Hedberg G, Jansson E. Secular trends in body dimensions and physical fitness among adolescents in Sweden from 1974 to 1995. Scand J Med Sci Sports. 2003;13(2):128-37.

143. Ortega FB, Artero EG, Ruiz JR, Espana-Romero V, Jimenez-Pavon D, Vicente-Rodriguez G, et al. Physical fitness levels among European adolescents: the HELENA study. Br J Sports Med. 2011;45(1):20-9.

144. Tomkinson GR, Carver KD, Atkinson F, Daniell ND, Lewis LK, Fitzgerald JS, et al. European normative values for physical fitness in children and adolescents aged 9-17 years: results from 2 779 165 Eurofit performances representing 30 countries. Br J Sports Med. 2018;52(22):1445-14563.

145. Ekblom Ö, Oddsson K, Ekblom B. Physical performance and body mass index in Swedish children and adolescents. Scandinavian Journal of Nutrition. 2005;49(4):172-9.

146. Plaza-Florido A, Altmäe S, Esteban FJ, Löf M, Radom-Aizik S, Ortega FB. Cardiorespiratory fitness in children with overweight/obesity: Insights into the molecular mechanisms. Scand J Med Sci Sports. 2021;31(11):2083-91.

147. Ortega FB, Lavie CJ, Blair SN. Obesity and Cardiovascular Disease. Circ Res. 2016;118(11):1752-70.

148. Ruiz JR, Cavero-Redondo I, Ortega FB, Welk GJ, Andersen LB, Martinez-Vizcaino V. Cardiorespiratory fitness cut points to avoid cardiovascular disease risk in children and adolescents; what level of fitness should raise a red flag? A systematic review and meta-analysis. Br J Sports Med. 2016;50(23):1451-8.
149. Berndtsson G, Mattsson E, Marcus C, Larsson UE. Age and gender differences in VO2max in Swedish obese children and adolescents. Acta Paediatr. 2007;96(4):567-71.

150. Pate RR, Wang CY, Dowda M, Farrell SW, O'Neill JR. Cardiorespiratory fitness levels among US youth 12 to 19 years of age: findings from the 1999-2002 National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med. 2006;160(10):1005-12.

151. Kumar S, Kelly AS. Review of Childhood Obesity: From Epidemiology, Etiology, and Comorbidities to Clinical Assessment and Treatment. Mayo Clin Proc. 2017;92(2):251-65.

152. Kelly AS, Auerbach P, Barrientos-Perez M, Gies I, Hale PM, Marcus C, et al. A Randomized, Controlled Trial of Liraglutide for Adolescents with Obesity. N Engl J Med. 2020;382(22):2117-28.

153. Olbers T, Beamish AJ, Gronowitz E, Flodmark CE, Dahlgren J, Bruze G, et al. Laparoscopic Roux-en-Y gastric bypass in adolescents with severe obesity (AMOS): a prospective, 5-year, Swedish nationwide study. Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol. 2017;5(3):174-83.

154. Inge TH, Courcoulas AP, Jenkins TM, Michalsky MP, Brandt ML, Xanthakos SA, et al. Five-Year Outcomes of Gastric Bypass in Adolescents as Compared with Adults. N Engl J Med. 2019;380(22):2136-45.

155. Gomez-Arbelaez D, Bellido D, Castro AI, Ordonez-Mayan L, Carreira J, Galban C, et al. Body Composition Changes After Very-Low-Calorie Ketogenic Diet in Obesity Evaluated by 3 Standardized Methods. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2017;102(2):488-98.

156. Rollnick S, Miller WRJB, Psychotherapy c. What is motivational interviewing? 1995;23(4):325-34.

157. Ek A, Lewis Chamberlain K, Sorjonen K, Hammar U, Etminan Malek M, Sandvik P, et al. A Parent Treatment Program for Preschoolers With Obesity: A Randomized Controlled Trial. Pediatrics. 2019;144(2).

158. O'Connor EA, Evans CV, Burda BU, Walsh ES, Eder M, Lozano P. Screening for Obesity and Intervention for Weight Management in Children and Adolescents: Evidence Report and Systematic Review for the US Preventive Services Task Force. Jama. 2017;317(23):2427-44.

159. Nordic Council of Ministers. Nordic Nutrition Recommendations 2012: integrating nutrition and physical activity. 2014.

160. Moreno LA, Rodriguez G. Dietary risk factors for development of childhood obesity. Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care. 2007;10(3):336-41.

161. Polfuss ML, Duderstadt KG, Kilanowski JF, Thompson ME, Davis RL, Quinn M. Childhood Obesity: Evidence-Based Guidelines for Clinical Practice-Part One. J Pediatr Health Care. 2020;34(3):283-90.

162. Kirk S, Ogata B, Wichert E, Handu D, Rozga M. Treatment of Pediatric Overweight and Obesity: Position of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics Based on an Umbrella Review of Systematic Reviews. J Acad Nutr Diet. 2022;122(4):848-61. 163. Johns DJ, Hartmann-Boyce J, Jebb SA, Aveyard P. Diet or exercise interventions vs combined behavioral weight management programs: a systematic review and meta-analysis of direct comparisons. J Acad Nutr Diet. 2014;114(10):1557-68.

164. Gralla MH, McDonald SM, Breneman C, Beets MW, Moore JB. Associations of Objectively Measured Vigorous Physical Activity With Body Composition, Cardiorespiratory Fitness, and Cardiometabolic Health in Youth: A Review. Am J Lifestyle Med. 2019;13(1):61-97.

165.Socialstyrelsen. Nationella riktlinjer för vård vid obesitas. Stöd för styrning och
ledning 2022 [Available from: <a href="https://www.socialstyrelsen.se/globalassets/sharepoint-
dokument/artikelkatalog/nationella-riktlinjer/2022-4-7822.pdf.

166. Chambers T, Segal A, Sassi F. Interventions using behavioural insights to influence children's diet-related outcomes: A systematic review. Obes Rev. 2021;22(2):e13152.

167. Wadden TA, Butryn ML. Behavioral treatment of obesity. Endocrinol Metab Clin North Am. 2003;32(4):981-1003, x.

168. Elfhag K, Rössner S. Who succeeds in maintaining weight loss? A conceptual review of factors associated with weight loss maintenance and weight regain. Obes Rev. 2005;6(1):67-85.

169. Khaylis A, Yiaslas T, Bergstrom J, Gore-Felton C. A review of efficacious technology-based weight-loss interventions: five key components. Telemed J E Health. 2010;16(9):931-8.

170. Raber M, Liao Y, Rara A, Schembre SM, Krause KJ, Strong L, et al. A systematic review of the use of dietary self-monitoring in behavioural weight loss interventions: delivery, intensity and effectiveness. Public Health Nutr. 2021;24(17):5885-913.

171. Berry R, Kassavou A, Sutton S. Does self-monitoring diet and physical activity behaviors using digital technology support adults with obesity or overweight to lose weight? A systematic literature review with meta-analysis. Obes Rev. 2021;22(10):e13306.

172. Burke LE, Wang J, Sevick MA. Self-monitoring in weight loss: a systematic review of the literature. J Am Diet Assoc. 2011;111(1):92-102.

173. Goldstein SP, Goldstein CM, Bond DS, Raynor HA, Wing RR, Thomas JG. Associations Between Self-Monitoring and Weight Change in Behavioral Weight Loss Interventions. Health Psychol. 2019;38(12):1128-36.

174. Germann JN, Kirschenbaum DS, Rich BH. Child and parental self-monitoring as determinants of success in the treatment of morbid obesity in low-income minority children. J Pediatr Psychol. 2007;32(1):111-21.

175. Darling KE, Sato AF. Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis Examining the Effectiveness of Mobile Health Technologies in Using Self-Monitoring for Pediatric Weight Management. Child Obes. 2017;13(5):347-55.

176. Danielsson P, Kowalski J, Ekblom O, Marcus C. Response of severely obese children and adolescents to behavioral treatment. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med. 2012;166(12):1103-8.

177. Jebeile H, Gow ML, Baur LA, Garnett SP, Paxton SJ, Lister NB. Treatment of obesity, with a dietary component, and eating disorder risk in children and adolescents: A systematic review with meta-analysis. Obes Rev. 2019;20(9):1287-98.

178. De Giuseppe R, Di Napoli I, Porri D, Cena H. Pediatric Obesity and Eating Disorders Symptoms: The Role of the Multidisciplinary Treatment. A Systematic Review. Front Pediatr. 2019;7:123.

179. House ET, Gow ML, Lister NB, Baur LA, Garnett SP, Paxton SJ, et al. Pediatric weight management, dietary restraint, dieting, and eating disorder risk: a systematic review. Nutr Rev. 2021;79(10):1114-33.

180. Farpour-Lambert NJ, Baker JL, Hassapidou M, Holm JC, Nowicka P, O'Malley G, et al. Childhood Obesity Is a Chronic Disease Demanding Specific Health Care--a Position Statement from the Childhood Obesity Task Force (COTF) of the European Association for the Study of Obesity (EASO). Obes Facts. 2015;8(5):342-9.

181. Hagman E, Danielsson P, Lindberg L, Marcus C. Paediatric obesity treatment during 14 years in Sweden: Lessons from the Swedish Childhood Obesity Treatment Register-BORIS. Pediatr Obes. 2020:<u>https://doi.org/10.1111/ijpo.12626</u>.

182. Ford AL, Hunt LP, Cooper A, Shield JP. What reduction in BMI SDS is required in obese adolescents to improve body composition and cardiometabolic health? Arch Dis Child. 2010;95(4):256-61.

183. Reinehr T, Kleber M, Toschke AM. Lifestyle intervention in obese children is associated with a decrease of the metabolic syndrome prevalence. Atherosclerosis. 2009;207(1):174-80.

184. Cao M, Tang Y, Li S, Zou Y. Effects of High-Intensity Interval Training and Moderate-Intensity Continuous Training on Cardiometabolic Risk Factors in Overweight and Obesity Children and Adolescents: A Meta-Analysis of Randomized Controlled Trials. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2021;18(22).

185. Burrows T, Warren JM, Baur LA, Collins CE. Impact of a child obesity intervention on dietary intake and behaviors. Int J Obes (Lond). 2008;32(10):1481-8.

186. Hodder RK, O'Brien KM, Stacey FG, Tzelepis F, Wyse RJ, Bartlem KM, et al. Interventions for increasing fruit and vegetable consumption in children aged five years and under. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2019;2019(11).

187. Kuhle S, Doucette R, Piccinini-Vallis H, Kirk SF. Successful childhood obesity management in primary care in Canada: what are the odds? PeerJ. 2015;3:e1327.

188. Dhaliwal J, Nosworthy NM, Holt NL, Zwaigenbaum L, Avis JL, Rasquinha A, et al. Attrition and the management of pediatric obesity: an integrative review. Child Obes. 2014;10(6):461-73.

189. Skelton JA, Irby MB, Geiger AM. A systematic review of satisfaction and pediatric obesity treatment: new avenues for addressing attrition. J Healthc Qual. 2014;36(4):5-22.

190. Oh H, Rizo C, Enkin M, Jadad A. What is eHealth (3): a systematic review of published definitions. J Med Internet Res. 2005;7(1):e1.

191. Al Shorbaji N. E-health in the Eastern Mediterranean Region: a decade of challenges and achievements. East Mediterr Health J. 2008;14:157-73.

192. World Health Organization W. mHealth: new horizons for health through mobile technologies. 2011.

193. Cummins N, Schuller BW. Five Crucial Challenges in Digital Health. Front Digit Health. 2020;2:536203.

194. Tully L, Burls A, Sorensen J, El-Moslemany R, O'Malley G. Mobile Health for Pediatric Weight Management: Systematic Scoping Review. Jmir Mhealth and Uhealth. 2020;8(6):15.

195. Quelly SB, Norris AE, DiPietro JL. Impact of mobile apps to combat obesity in children and adolescents: A systematic literature review. J Spec Pediatr Nurs. 2016;21(1):5-17.

196. Wang Y, Xue H, Huang Y, Huang L, Zhang D. A Systematic Review of Application and Effectiveness of mHealth Interventions for Obesity and Diabetes Treatment and Self-Management. Adv Nutr. 2017;8(3):449-62.

197. Langarizadeh M, Sadeghi M, As'habi A, Rahmati P, Sheikhtaheri A. Mobile apps for weight management in children and adolescents; An updated systematic review. Patient Educ Couns. 2021;104(9):2181-8.

198. Turner T, Spruijt-Metz D, Wen CK, Hingle MD. Prevention and treatment of pediatric obesity using mobile and wireless technologies: a systematic review. Pediatr Obes. 2015;10(6):403-9.

199. Sharifi M, Dryden EM, Horan CM, Price S, Marshall R, Hacker K, et al. Leveraging text messaging and mobile technology to support pediatric obesity-related behavior change: a qualitative study using parent focus groups and interviews. J Med Internet Res. 2013;15(12):e272.

200. Chaplais E, Naughton G, Thivel D, Courteix D, Greene D. Smartphone Interventions for Weight Treatment and Behavioral Change in Pediatric Obesity: A Systematic Review. Telemed J E Health. 2015;21(10):822-30.

201. Azevedo LB, Stephenson J, Ells L, Adu-Ntiamoah S, DeSmet A, Giles EL, et al. The effectiveness of e-health interventions for the treatment of overweight or obesity in children and adolescents: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Obes Rev. 2021:e13373.

202. Kouvari M, Karipidou M, Tsiampalis T, Mamalaki E, Poulimeneas D, Bathrellou E, et al. Digital Health Interventions for Weight Management in Children and Adolescents: Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. J Med Internet Res. 2022;24(2):e30675.

203. Wang W, Cheng J, Song W, Shen Y. The Effectiveness of Wearable Devices as Physical Activity Interventions for Preventing and Treating Obesity in Children and Adolescents: Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth. 2022;10(4):e32435.

204. Patrick K, Norman GJ, Davila EP, Calfas KJ, Raab F, Gottschalk M, et al. Outcomes of a 12-month technology-based intervention to promote weight loss in adolescents at risk for type 2 diabetes. J Diabetes Sci Technol. 2013;7(3):759-70.

205. Taveras EM, Marshall R, Sharifi M, Avalon E, Fiechtner L, Horan C, et al. Comparative Effectiveness of Clinical-Community Childhood Obesity Interventions: A Randomized Clinical Trial. JAMA Pediatr. 2017;171(8):e171325.

206. Nguyen B, Shrewsbury VA, O'Connor J, Steinbeck KS, Hill AJ, Shah S, et al. Two-year outcomes of an adjunctive telephone coaching and electronic contact intervention

for adolescent weight-loss maintenance: the Loozit randomized controlled trial. Int J Obes (Lond). 2013;37(3):468-72.

207. Craig P, Dieppe P, Macintyre S, Michie S, Nazareth I, Petticrew M. Developing and evaluating complex interventions: the new Medical Research Council guidance. Int J Nurs Stud. 2013;50(5):587-92.

208. Thabane L, Ma J, Chu R, Cheng J, Ismaila A, Rios LP, et al. A tutorial on pilot studies: the what, why and how. BMC Med Res Methodol. 2010;10:1.

209. Arain M, Campbell MJ, Cooper CL, Lancaster GA. What is a pilot or feasibility study? A review of current practice and editorial policy. BMC Med Res Methodol. 2010;10:67.

210. Eldridge SM, Chan CL, Campbell MJ, Bond CM, Hopewell S, Thabane L, et al. CONSORT 2010 statement: extension to randomised pilot and feasibility trials. Pilot Feasibility Stud. 2016;2:64.

211. Moore GF, Audrey S, Barker M, Bond L, Bonell C, Hardeman W, et al. Process evaluation of complex interventions: Medical Research Council guidance. Bmj. 2015;350:h1258.

212. May C. A rational model for assessing and evaluating complex interventions in health care. BMC Health Serv Res. 2006;6:86.

213. May C, Finch T, Mair F, Ballini L, Dowrick C, Eccles M, et al. Understanding the implementation of complex interventions in health care: the normalization process model. BMC Health Serv Res. 2007;7:7.

214. May C, Finch T. Implementing, embedding, and integrating practices: an outline of normalization process theory. Sociology. 2009;43(3):535-54.

215. May CR, Mair F, Finch T, MacFarlane A, Dowrick C, Treweek S, et al. Development of a theory of implementation and integration: Normalization Process Theory. 2009;4(1):1-9.

216. Murray E, Treweek S, Pope C, MacFarlane A, Ballini L, Dowrick C, et al. Normalisation process theory: a framework for developing, evaluating and implementing complex interventions. 2010;8(1):1-11.

217. Ford I, Norrie J. Pragmatic Trials. N Engl J Med. 2016;375(5):454-63.

218. Loudon K, Treweek S, Sullivan F, Donnan P, Thorpe KE, Zwarenstein M. The PRECIS-2 tool: designing trials that are fit for purpose. Bmj. 2015;350:h2147.

219. Ekblom O. Testing the validity of three submaximal ergometer tests for estimating maximal aerobic capacity in children. Acta Paediatr. 2014;103(5):559-63.

220. Richmond TK, Thurston IB, Sonneville KR. Weight-Focused Public Health Interventions-No Benefit, Some Harm. JAMA Pediatr. 2021;175(3):238-9.

221. Shieh C, Knisely MR, Clark D, Carpenter JS. Self-weighing in weight management interventions: A systematic review of literature. Obes Res Clin Pract. 2016;10(5):493-519.

222. Zheng Y, Klem ML, Sereika SM, Danford CA, Ewing LJ, Burke LE. Selfweighing in weight management: a systematic literature review. Obesity (Silver Spring). 2015;23(2):256-65. 223. Benn Y, Webb TL, Chang BP, Harkin B. What is the psychological impact of self-weighing? A meta-analysis. Health Psychol Rev. 2016;10(2):187-203.

224. Gorin AA, Gokee LaRose J, Espeland MA, Tate DF, Jelalian E, Robichaud E, et al. Eating pathology and psychological outcomes in young adults in self-regulation interventions using daily self-weighing. Health Psychol. 2019;38(2):143-50.

225. Mead E, Brown T, Rees K, Azevedo LB, Whittaker V, Jones D, et al. Diet, physical activity and behavioural interventions for the treatment of overweight or obese children from the age of 6 to 11 years. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2017;6:Cd012651.

226. Ells LJ, Rees K, Brown T, Mead E, Al-Khudairy L, Azevedo L, et al. Interventions for treating children and adolescents with overweight and obesity: an overview of Cochrane reviews. Int J Obes (Lond). 2018;42(11):1823-33.

227. Nguyen B, Shrewsbury VA, O'Connor J, Steinbeck KS, Lee A, Hill AJ, et al. Twelve-month outcomes of the loozit randomized controlled trial: a community-based healthy lifestyle program for overweight and obese adolescents. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med. 2012;166(2):170-7.

228. McMaster CM, Cohen J, Alexander S, Neal R, Gow ML, Calleja E, et al. Satisfaction and acceptability of paediatric weight management services amongst parents and carers: A mixed-methods study. Clin Obes. 2020;10(6):e12391.

229. McDonald AM, Knight RC, Campbell MK, Entwistle VA, Grant AM, Cook JA, et al. What influences recruitment to randomised controlled trials? A review of trials funded by two UK funding agencies. Trials. 2006;7:9.

230. Sully BG, Julious SA, Nicholl J. A reinvestigation of recruitment to randomised, controlled, multicenter trials: a review of trials funded by two UK funding agencies. Trials. 2013;14:166.

231. Charlson ME, Horwitz RI. Applying results of randomised trials to clinical practice: impact of losses before randomisation. Br Med J (Clin Res Ed). 1984;289(6454):1281-4.

232. Haidich AB, Ioannidis JP. Patterns of patient enrollment in randomized controlled trials. J Clin Epidemiol. 2001;54(9):877-83.

233. Clayton P, Connelly J, Ellington M, Rojas V, Lorenzo Y, Trak-Fellermeier MA, et al. Facilitators and barriers of children's participation in nutrition, physical activity, and obesity interventions: A systematic review. Obes Rev. 2021;22(12):e13335.

234. Bauer P, Brannath W. The advantages and disadvantages of adaptive designs for clinical trials. Drug Discov Today. 2004;9(8):351-7.

235. Dimairo M, Pallmann P, Wason J, Todd S, Jaki T, Julious SA, et al. The Adaptive designs CONSORT Extension (ACE) statement: a checklist with explanation and elaboration guideline for reporting randomised trials that use an adaptive design. Bmj. 2020;369:m115.

236. Bowling A. Research methods in health: investigating health and health services: Open University Press; 2014.

237. McCambridge J, Sorhaindo A, Quirk A, Nanchahal K. Patient preferences and performance bias in a weight loss trial with a usual care arm. Patient Educ Couns. 2014;95(2):243-7.

238. Norris M, Poltawski L, Calitri R, Shepherd AI, Dean SG. Hope and despair: a qualitative exploration of the experiences and impact of trial processes in a rehabilitation trial. Trials. 2019;20(1):525.

239. Rothwell PM. External validity of randomised controlled trials: "to whom do the results of this trial apply?". Lancet. 2005;365(9453):82-93.

240. Skelton JA, Beech BM. Attrition in paediatric weight management: a review of the literature and new directions. Obes Rev. 2011;12(5):273-81.

241. Skelton JA, Martin S, Irby MB. Satisfaction and attrition in paediatric weight management. Clin Obes. 2016;6(2):143-53.

242. Hampl S, Demeule M, Eneli I, Frank M, Hawkins MJ, Kirk S, et al. Parent perspectives on attrition from tertiary care pediatric weight management programs. Clin Pediatr (Phila). 2013;52(6):513-9.

243. Barlow SE, Ohlemeyer CL. Parent reasons for nonreturn to a pediatric weight management program. Clin Pediatr (Phila). 2006;45(4):355-60.

244. Eccleston C, Cooper TE, Fisher E, Anderson B, Wilkinson NM. Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) for chronic non-cancer pain in children and adolescents. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2017;8(8):Cd012537.

245. Langendam M, Luijf YM, Hooft L, Devries JH, Mudde AH, Scholten RJ. Continuous glucose monitoring systems for type 1 diabetes mellitus. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2012;1(1):Cd008101.

246. Pirotta S, Joham A, Hochberg L, Moran L, Lim S, Hindle A, et al. Strategies to reduce attrition in weight loss interventions: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Obes Rev. 2019;20(10):1400-12.

247. Ball GDC, Sebastianski M, Wijesundera J, Keto-Lambert D, Ho J, Zenlea I, et al. Strategies to reduce attrition in managing paediatric obesity: A systematic review. Pediatr Obes. 2021;16(4):e12733.

248. Faridi Z, Liberti L, Shuval K, Northrup V, Ali A, Katz DL. Evaluating the impact of mobile telephone technology on type 2 diabetic patients' self-management: the NICHE pilot study. J Eval Clin Pract. 2008;14(3):465-9.

249. Browne S, Kechadi MT, O'Donnell S, Dow M, Tully L, Doyle G, et al. Mobile Health Apps in Pediatric Obesity Treatment: Process Outcomes From a Feasibility Study of a Multicomponent Intervention. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth. 2020;8(7):e16925.

250. Lyzwinski LN, Caffery LJ, Bambling M, Edirippulige S. Consumer perspectives on mHealth for weight loss: a review of qualitative studies. J Telemed Telecare. 2018;24(4):290-302.

251. Pham Q, Graham G, Carrion C, Morita PP, Seto E, Stinson JN, et al. A Library of Analytic Indicators to Evaluate Effective Engagement with Consumer mHealth Apps for Chronic Conditions: Scoping Review. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth. 2019;7(1):e11941.

252. Perski O, Blandford A, West R, Michie S. Conceptualising engagement with digital behaviour change interventions: a systematic review using principles from critical interpretive synthesis. Transl Behav Med. 2017;7(2):254-67.

253. Carey A, Yang Q, DeLuca L, Toro-Ramos T, Kim Y, Michaelides A. The Relationship Between Weight Loss Outcomes and Engagement in a Mobile Behavioral Change Intervention: Retrospective Analysis. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth. 2021;9(11):e30622.

254. Wickström H, Tuvesson H, Öien R, Midlöv P, Fagerström C. Health Care Staff's Experiences of Engagement When Introducing a Digital Decision Support System for Wound Management: Qualitative Study. JMIR Hum Factors. 2020;7(4):e23188.

255. Valenzise M, D'Amico F, Cucinotta U, Lugarà C, Zirilli G, Zema A, et al. The lockdown effects on a pediatric obese population in the COVID-19 era. Ital J Pediatr. 2021;47(1):209.

256. Maltoni G, Zioutas M, Deiana G, Biserni GB, Pession A, Zucchini S. Adolescent males suffered from reduced physical activity and increased BMI during COVID-19 pandemic. Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis. 2021.

257. Schueller SM. Grand Challenges in Human Factors and Digital Health. Front Digit Health. 2021;3:635112.

258. Jebeile H, Gow ML, Baur LA, Garnett SP, Paxton SJ, Lister NB. Association of Pediatric Obesity Treatment, Including a Dietary Component, With Change in Depression and Anxiety: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. JAMA Pediatr. 2019:e192841.

259. Edwards C, Nicholls D, Croker H, Van Zyl S, Viner R, Wardle J. Family-based behavioural treatment of obesity: acceptability and effectiveness in the UK. Eur J Clin Nutr. 2006;60(5):587-92.

260. Turer CB, Mehta M, Durante R, Wazni F, Flores G. Parental perspectives regarding primary-care weight-management strategies for school-age children. Matern Child Nutr. 2016;12(2):326-38.

261. Bradbury D, Chisholm A, Watson PM, Bundy C, Bradbury N, Birtwistle S. Barriers and facilitators to health care professionals discussing child weight with parents: A meta-synthesis of qualitative studies. Br J Health Psychol. 2018;23(3):701-22.

262. Cardel MI, Newsome FA, Pearl RL, Ross KM, Dillard JR, Miller DR, et al. Patient-Centered Care for Obesity: How Health Care Providers Can Treat Obesity While Actively Addressing Weight Stigma and Eating Disorder Risk. J Acad Nutr Diet. 2022.

263. Tambalis KD, Panagiotakos DB, Psarra G, Sidossis LS. Inverse but independent trends in obesity and fitness levels among Greek children: a time-series analysis from 1997 to 2007. Obes Facts. 2011;4(2):165-74.

264. Bouchard C, Malina RM, Pérusse L. Genetics of fitness and physical performance: Human Kinetics; 1997.

265. Ekelund U, Tomkinson G, Armstrong N. What proportion of youth are physically active? Measurement issues, levels and recent time trends. Br J Sports Med. 2011;45(11):859-65.

266. Després J-P. Physical activity, sedentary behaviours, and cardiovascular health: when will cardiorespiratory fitness become a vital sign? Can J Cardiol. 2016;32(4):505-13.

267. García-Hermoso A, Cerrillo-Urbina AJ, Herrera-Valenzuela T, Cristi-Montero C, Saavedra JM, Martínez-Vizcaíno V. Is high-intensity interval training more effective on improving cardiometabolic risk and aerobic capacity than other forms of exercise in overweight and obese youth? A meta-analysis. Obes Rev. 2016;17(6):531-40.

268. Helgerud J, Høydal K, Wang E, Karlsen T, Berg P, Bjerkaas M, et al. Aerobic high-intensity intervals improve VO2max more than moderate training. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2007;39(4):665-71.

269. MacInnis MJ, Zacharewicz E, Martin BJ, Haikalis ME, Skelly LE, Tarnopolsky MA, et al. Superior mitochondrial adaptations in human skeletal muscle after interval compared to continuous single-leg cycling matched for total work. J Physiol. 2017;595(9):2955-68.

270. Ross R, Goodpaster BH, Koch LG, Sarzynski MA, Kohrt WM, Johannsen NM, et al. Precision exercise medicine: understanding exercise response variability. Br J Sports Med. 2019;53(18):1141-53.

271. Zadro JR, Shirley D, Andrade TB, Scurrah KJ, Bauman A, Ferreira PH. The Beneficial Effects of Physical Activity: Is It Down to Your Genes? A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Twin and Family Studies. Sports Med Open. 2017;3(1):4.

272. Hopkins N, Stratton G, Maia J, Tinken TM, Graves LE, Cable TN, et al. Heritability of arterial function, fitness, and physical activity in youth: a study of monozygotic and dizygotic twins. J Pediatr. 2010;157(6):943-8.

273. Hopkins ND, Stratton G, Cable NT, Tinken TM, Graves LE, Green DJ. Impact of exercise training on endothelial function and body composition in young people: a study of mono- and di-zygotic twins. Eur J Appl Physiol. 2012;112(2):421-7.

274. Marsh CE, Thomas HJ, Naylor LH, Scurrah KJ, Green DJ. Fitness and strength responses to distinct exercise modes in twins: Studies of Twin Responses to Understand Exercise as a THerapy (STRUETH) study. J Physiol. 2020;598(18):3845-58.

275. González-Gil EM, Santaliestra-Pasías AM, Buck C, Gracia-Marco L, Lauria F, Pala V, et al. Improving cardiorespiratory fitness protects against inflammation in children: the IDEFICS study. Pediatr Res. 2022;91(3):681-9.

276. Martinez-Gomez D, Gomez-Martinez S, Ruiz JR, Diaz LE, Ortega FB, Widhalm K, et al. Objectively-measured and self-reported physical activity and fitness in relation to inflammatory markers in European adolescents: the HELENA Study. Atherosclerosis. 2012;221(1):260-7.

277. Garcia-Hermoso A, Agostinis-Sobrinho C, Mota J, Santos RM, Correa-Bautista JE, Ramírez-Vélez R. Adiposity as a full mediator of the influence of cardiorespiratory fitness and inflammation in schoolchildren: The FUPRECOL Study. Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis. 2017;27(6):525-33.

278. Steene-Johannessen J, Kolle E, Andersen LB, Anderssen SA. Adiposity, aerobic fitness, muscle fitness, and markers of inflammation in children. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2013;45(4):714-21.

279. Donath MY, Shoelson SE. Type 2 diabetes as an inflammatory disease. Nat Rev Immunol. 2011;11(2):98-107.

280. Fedewa MV, Hathaway ED, Ward-Ritacco CL. Effect of exercise training on C reactive protein: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised and non-randomised controlled trials. Br J Sports Med. 2017;51(8):670-6.

281. Monteiro-Junior RS, de Tarso Maciel-Pinheiro P, da Matta Mello Portugal E, da Silva Figueiredo LF, Terra R, Carneiro LSF, et al. Effect of Exercise on Inflammatory Profile of Older Persons: Systematic Review and Meta-Analyses. J Phys Act Health. 2018;15(1):64-71.

282. You T, Arsenis NC, Disanzo BL, Lamonte MJ. Effects of exercise training on chronic inflammation in obesity : current evidence and potential mechanisms. Sports Med. 2013;43(4):243-56.

283. García-Hermoso A, Ceballos-Ceballos RJ, Poblete-Aro CE, Hackney AC, Mota J, Ramírez-Vélez R. Exercise, adipokines and pediatric obesity: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Int J Obes (Lond). 2017;41(4):475-82.

284. García-Hermoso A, Sánchez-López M, Escalante Y, Saavedra JM, Martínez-Vizcaíno V. Exercise-based interventions and C-reactive protein in overweight and obese youths: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Pediatr Res. 2016;79(4):522-7.

285. Sirico F, Bianco A, D'Alicandro G, Castaldo C, Montagnani S, Spera R, et al. Effects of Physical Exercise on Adiponectin, Leptin, and Inflammatory Markers in Childhood Obesity: Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Child Obes. 2018;14(4):207-17.

286. Llorente-Cantarero FJ, Pérez-Navero JL, de Dios Benitez-Sillero J, Muñoz-Villanueva MC, Guillén-del Castillo M, Gil-Campos M. Non-traditional markers of metabolic risk in prepubertal children with different levels of cardiorespiratory fitness. Public Health Nutr. 2012;15(10):1827-34.

287. Hinriksdóttir G, Tryggvadóttir Á, Ólafsdóttir AS, Arngrímsson S. Fatness but Not Fitness Relative to the Fat-Free Mass Is Related to C-Reactive Protein in 18 Year-Old Adolescents. PLoS One. 2015;10(6):e0130597.

288. Sævarsson ES, Magnússon KT, Sveinsson T, Jóhannsson E, Arngrímsson S. The association of cardiorespiratory fitness to health independent of adiposity depends upon its expression. Ann Hum Biol. 2016;43(3):229-34.

289. Goran M, Fields DA, Hunter GR, Herd SL, Weinsier RL. Total body fat does not influence maximal aerobic capacity. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord. 2000;24(7):841-8.

290. Zhou N. Assessment of aerobic exercise capacity in obesity, which expression of oxygen uptake is the best? Sports Med Health Sci. 2021;3(3):138-47.

291. Mayorga-Vega D, Aguilar-Soto P, Viciana J. Criterion-Related Validity of the 20-M Shuttle Run Test for Estimating Cardiorespiratory Fitness: A Meta-Analysis. J Sports Sci Med. 2015;14(3):536-47.

292. Mahar MT, Guerieri AM, Hanna MS, Kemble CD. Estimation of aerobic fitness from 20-m multistage shuttle run test performance. Am J Prev Med. 2011;41(4 Suppl 2):S117-23.

293. Finley JP, Nugent ST. Heart rate variability in infants, children and young adults. J Auton Nerv Syst. 1995;51(2):103-8.

294. Zhou L, Bao J, Setiawan IMA, Saptono A, Parmanto B. The mHealth App Usability Questionnaire (MAUQ): Development and Validation Study. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth. 2019;7(4):e11500.